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 PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 

Item 1. Financial Statements 
 

 

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS PARENT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

($ in millions and shares in thousands, except for per-share amounts)
 
 

 
         

   (Unaudited)    
   September 30, 2024  December 31, 2023  
 ASSETS        
 Current assets:        
 Cash and cash equivalents  $  1,320 $  1,125 
 Short-term investments    -   1,075 
 Accounts receivable, less allowances of $81 and $53, respectively    419   446 
 Prepaid expenses    86   67 
 Income taxes and other current assets    61   68 
  Total current assets    1,886   2,781 
         
 Property, plant and equipment, net    15,226   13,933 
 Other intangibles, net    3,344    3,585 
 Other assets    403   394 
      Total assets  $  20,859 $  20,693 
         
 LIABILITIES AND EQUITY        
 Current liabilities:        
 Long-term debt due within one year  $  10 $ 15 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    1,064   1,103 
 Advanced billings    193   182 
 Accrued other taxes    130   118 
 Accrued interest    184   126 
 Pension and other postretirement benefits    38    38 
 Other current liabilities    834   693 
 Total current liabilities    2,453   2,275 
         
 Deferred income taxes    619   643 
 Pension and other postretirement benefits    570   697 
 Other liabilities    595   553 
 Long-term debt    11,556   11,246 
 Total liabilities    15,793   15,414 
         
 Equity:        
 Common stock, $0.01 par value (1,750,000 authorized shares, 249,007        
 and 245,813 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2024 and        
  December 31, 2023, respectively)    2  2 
 Additional paid-in capital    4,302   4,297 
 Retained earnings    680   884 
 Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax    82   96 
  Total equity    5,066   5,279 
 Total liabilities and equity  $  20,859 $  20,693 
         

 
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
 

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS PARENT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

 ($ in millions and shares in thousands, except for per-share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 
 

 
               

   For the three months ended  For the nine months ended  
   September 30,  September 30,  
   2024  2023  2024  2023  
               
 Revenue  $  1,489 $  1,436 $  4,431 $  4,325 
               
 Operating expenses:              
 Cost of service    538   545   1,576   1,615 
 Selling, general, and administrative expenses    427   405   1,304   1,250 
 Depreciation and amortization    410   356   1,196   1,040 
 Restructuring costs and other charges    28   16   88   48 
 Total operating expenses    1,403   1,322    4,164   3,953 
               
               
 Operating income    86   114   267   372 
               
 Investment and other income, net (See Note 11)    29   67   117   101 
 Interest expense    (203)   (170)   (601)   (460) 
               
 Income (loss) before income taxes    (88)   11   (217)   13 
 Income tax expense (benefit)    (6)   -   (13)   1  
               
 Net income (loss)  $  (82) $  11 $  (204) $  12 
               
 Basic net earnings (loss) per share              
 attributable to Frontier common shareholders  $  (0.33) $  0.05 $  (0.82) $ 0.05 
               
 Diluted net earnings (loss) per share              
 attributable to Frontier common shareholders  $  (0.33) $  0.05 $  (0.82) $ 0.05 
               
 Total weighted average shares outstanding - basic    248,986   245,761   247,866   245,431 
               
 Total weighted average shares outstanding - diluted    248,986   247,447   247,866   247,336 
               

 
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
 

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS PARENT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

 ($ in millions)
(Unaudited)

 
 

 
 

               

   For the three months ended  For the nine months ended  
   September 30,  September 30,  
   2024  2023  2024  2023  
               
 Net income (loss)  $  (82) $  11 $  (204) $  12 
 Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax    (5)   8   (14)   21 
               
 Comprehensive income (loss)  $  (87) $  19 $  (218) $  33 
               

 
 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)

 
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS PARENT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY 
 ($ in millions and shares in thousands)

(Unaudited)
 

 

 
 

                   

                   

  For the nine months ended September 30, 2024  
             Accumulated     
       Additional     Other    
  Common Stock  Paid-In  Retained  Comprehensive  Total  
  Shares  Amount  Capital  Earnings  Income  Equity  
Balance at January 1, 2024   245,813 $  2 $  4,297 $  884 $  96 $  5,279 

Stock plans, net   2,734   -   (16)   -   -   (16) 
Net income   -   -   -   1   -   1 
Other comprehensive                   

loss, net of tax   -   -   -   -   (5)   (5) 
Balance at March 31, 2024   248,547 $  2 $  4,281 $  885 $  91 $  5,259 

Stock plans, net   415   -   5   -   -   5 
Net loss   -   -   -   (123)   -   (123) 
Other comprehensive                   

loss, net of tax   -   -   -   -   (4)   (4) 
Balance at June 30, 2024   248,962 $  2 $  4,286 $  762 $  87 $  5,137 

Stock plans   45   -   16    -   -    16 
Net loss   -    -    -   (82)   -   (82) 
Other comprehensive                   

income, net of tax   -    -    -  -   (5)   (5) 
Balance at September 30, 2024   249,007 $  2 $  4,302 $  680 $  82 $  5,066 
                   

 
 

                   

                   

  For the nine months ended September 30, 2023  
             Accumulated     
       Additional     Other    
  Common Stock  Paid-In  Retained  Comprehensive  Total  
  Shares  Amount  Capital  Earnings  Income  Equity  
Balance at January 1, 2023   245,021 $  2 $  4,198 $  855 $  79 $  5,134 

Stock plans, net   211   -   22   -   -   22 
Net income   -   -   -   3   -   3 
Other comprehensive                   

income, net of tax   -   -   -   -   4   4 
Balance at March 31, 2023   245,232 $  2 $  4,220 $  858 $  83 $  5,163 

Stock plans, net   512   -   22   -   -   22 
Net loss   -   -   -   (2)   -   (2) 
Other comprehensive                   

income, net of tax   -   -   -   -   9   9 
Balance at June 30, 2023   245,744 $  2 $  4,242 $  856 $  92 $  5,192 

Stock plans   38    -    29    -    -    29 
Net income   -   -   -   11   -   11 
Other comprehensive                   

income, net of tax   -   -   -   -   8   8 
Balance at September 30, 2023   245,782 $  2 $  4,271 $  867 $  100 $  5,240 

 
 
 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS PARENT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 ($ in millions)
(Unaudited)

 
         

     

   
For the nine months ended  

September 30,  
   2024  2023  
         
 Cash flows provided from (used by) operating activities:        
 Net income (loss)  $  (204)  $  12   

 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided from (used by) operating activities:        
 Depreciation and amortization    1,196    1,040   
 Pension / OPEB special termination benefit enhancements    11    -  
 Stock-based compensation expense    54    81   
 Amortization of premium    (15)    (21)  
 Bad debt expense    30    24   
 Other adjustments    10    9   
 Deferred income taxes    (18)    (1)  
 Change in accounts receivable    (3)    (35)  
 Change in long-term pension and other postretirement liabilities    (156)    (149)  
 Change in accounts payable and other liabilities    392    101   
 Change in prepaid expenses, income taxes, and other assets    30    (13)  
 Net cash provided from operating activities    1,327    1,048   
         
 Cash flows provided from (used by) investing activities:        
 Capital expenditures    (1,991)    (2,882)  
 Purchase of short-term investments    -    (1,850)  
 Sale of short-term investments    1,075     2,325   
 Purchase of long-term investments    -    (63)  
 Proceeds on sale of assets    12    18   
 Other    6     1   
 Net cash (used by) investing activities    (898)    (2,451)  
         
 Cash flows provided from (used by) financing activities:        
 Long-term debt principal payments    (410)    (64)  
 Net proceeds from long-term debt borrowings    750    2,278   
 Payments of vendor financing    (415)    -  
 Premium paid to retire debt    -    (10)  
 Financing costs paid    (29)    (56)  
 Finance lease obligation payments    (23)    (18)  
 Proceeds from sale and lease-back transactions    -    21   
 Taxes paid on behalf of employees for shares withheld    (49)    (9)  
 Other    (12)    (7)  
 Net cash (used by) provided from financing activities    (188)    2,135   
         
 Increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash    241    732   
 Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at January 1,    1,239     322   
 Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at September 30,  $  1,480  $  1,054   
         
 Supplemental cash flow information:        
 Cash paid during the period for:        
 Interest  $  565  $  449   
 Income tax (refund) payments, net  $  (8)  $  1   

 
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS PARENT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(Unaudited)
 
 

 
(1)    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 

 
a)   Description of Business:

Frontier Communications Parent, Inc. is a provider of communications services in the United States, with approximately 3.1 million 
broadband subscribers and approximately 13,000 employees, operating in 25 states as of September 30, 2024. We were incorporated in 
1935, originally under the name of Citizens Utilities Company and known as Citizens Communications Company until July 31, 2008. 
Frontier and its subsidiaries are referred to herein as “we,” “us,” “our,” “Frontier,” or the “Company” in this report.

 
b) Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates:

Our interim unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes 
included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023. The consolidated financial statements include the 
accounts of Frontier Communications Parent, Inc., all consolidated subsidiaries and variable interest entities of which the Company is 
the primary beneficiary. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. These interim 
unaudited consolidated financial statements include all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary, in 
the opinion of Frontier’s management, to present fairly the results for the interim periods shown. Revenues, net income, and cash flows 
for any interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for the full year. 
 
We operate in one reportable segment. Frontier provides both regulated and unregulated voice, data and video services to consumer, 
business, and wholesale customers and is typically the incumbent voice services provider in its service areas. Certain reclassifications of 
prior period balances have been made to conform to the current period presentation. For our interim financial statements as of and for 
the period ended September 30, 2024, we evaluated subsequent events and transactions for potential recognition or disclosure through 
the date that we filed this Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
 
The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect (i) the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, (ii) the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities, and (iii) the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those 
estimates. Estimates and judgments are used when accounting for the application of allowance for credit losses, asset impairments, 
indefinite-lived intangibles, depreciation and amortization, income taxes, and pension and other postretirement benefits, among others.
 

c) Going Concern: 
In accordance with the requirements of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-15, “Presentation of Financial Statements Going 
Concern (ASU 2014-15)”, and ASC 205, “Presentation of Financial Statements”, we have the responsibility to evaluate at each reporting 
period, including interim periods, whether conditions and/or events raise substantial doubt about our ability to meet our future financial 
obligations. In its evaluation for this report, management considered our current financial condition and liquidity sources, including 
current funds available, forecasted future cash flows and our conditional and unconditional obligations due within one year following the 
date of issuance of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 

 
We believe we have the ability to meet our obligations for at least one year from the date of issuance of this Form 10-Q. Accordingly, the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that we will continue as a going concern and 
contemplate the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course business.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS PARENT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(Unaudited)
 
 

 
d) Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash: 

We consider all liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Restricted cash amounts 
represent cash collateral required for certain Letter of Credit obligations and utility vendors and collateral for debt arrangements. 
 
At September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company had $160 million and $114 million, respectively, in restricted cash. 
Pursuant to the terms of the Company’s secured fiber network revenue term notes, and secured fiber network revenue variable funding 
note facility, as described in Note 9, restricted cash is held in securitization escrow accounts. As of September 30, 2024 and December 
31, 2023, approximately $55 million and $42 million, respectively, is current restricted cash held for the purpose of paying interest and 
certain fees. In addition, as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had approximately $105 million and $72 million, 
respectively, in noncurrent restricted cash to satisfy a portion of the required liquidity reserve amount, related to the August 2023 and 
July 2024 securitization transactions.
 

e)   Investments: 
 
Short-term Investments 
Given the long-term nature of our fiber build, we may invest cash into short-term investments to improve interest income while 
preserving liquidity to fund the investment as required. 
 
As of September 30, 2024, the Company had no short-term investments. As of December 31, 2023, short-term investments of $1,075 
million are comprised of term deposits earning interest in excess of traditional bank deposit rates, maturing between January 4, 2024, 
and May 2, 2024, and placed with banks with A-1/P-1 or equivalent credit quality. These short-term investments are in scope of ASC 
320, Investments - Debt Securities. The short-term investments’ original maturity is greater than 90 days but less than one year, and they 
are classified as held to maturity, recorded as current assets, and are accounted for at amortized cost.
 
Other Investments
In connection with the closing of the August 2023 securitization transaction, approximately $63 million in the form of U.S. Treasuries was 
deposited in an escrow account established with a trustee, for the purpose of paying interest and principal on $47 million principal 
amount in remaining debt of our subsidiary Frontier Southwest Incorporated. As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, this 
balance was approximately $59 million and $62 million, respectively, and is included in “Other assets” on our consolidated balance 
sheets and is restricted. See Note 9 for further details.
 

f)    Revenue Recognition: 
Revenue for data and Internet services, voice services, video services, and switched and non-switched access services is recognized as 
services are provided to customers. Services that are billed in advance include monthly recurring network access services (including 
data services), special access services, and monthly recurring voice, video, and related charges. Revenue is recognized by measuring 
progress toward the complete satisfaction of our performance obligations. The unearned portion of these fees is deferred as a 
component of “Advanced billings” on our consolidated balance sheet and recognized as revenue over the period that the services are 
provided. Services that are billed in arrears include non-recurring network access services (including data services), switched access 
services, and non-recurring voice and video services. The earned but unbilled portion of these fees is recognized as revenue in our 
consolidated statements of operations and accrued in “Accounts receivable” on our consolidated balance sheet in the period that 
services are provided. Excise taxes are recognized as a liability when billed. 
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS PARENT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(Unaudited)
 
 

 
Satisfaction of Performance Obligations
We satisfy our obligations to customers by transferring goods and services in exchange for consideration received from the customer. 
The timing of our satisfaction of the performance obligation may differ from the timing of the customer’s payment. 
 
Bundled Service and Allocation of Discounts
When customers purchase more than one service, revenue for each is determined by allocating the total transaction price based upon 
the relative stand-alone selling price of each service. We frequently offer service discounts as an incentive to customers, which reduce 
the total transaction price. Any incentives which are considered cash equivalents (e.g. gift cards) that are granted will similarly result in a 
reduction of the total transaction price. Cash equivalent incentives are accounted for on a portfolio basis and are recognized in the 
month they are awarded to customers. 

 
Customer Incentives
In the process of acquiring and/or retaining customers, we may issue a variety of incentives aside from service discounts or cash 
equivalent incentives. Those incentives that have stand-alone value (e.g. gift cards not considered cash equivalents or free 
goods/services) are considered separate performance obligations. While these incentives are free to the customer, a portion of the 
consideration received from the customer is ascribed to them based upon their relative stand-alone selling price. These types of 
incentives are accounted for on a portfolio basis with both revenue and expense recognized in the month they are awarded to the 
customer. The earned revenue associated with these incentives is reflected in “Other” revenue while the associated costs are reflected 
in “Cost of Services”.
 
Upfront Fees
All non-refundable upfront fees assessed to our customers provide them with a material right to renew; therefore, they are deferred by 
creating a contract liability and amortized into “Data and Internet service revenue” for fees charged to our wholesale customers and 
“Other revenue” for fees charged to all other customers over the average customer life using a portfolio approach. 

 
Customer Acquisition Costs
Sales commission expenses are recognized as incurred. According to ASC 606, incremental costs in obtaining a contract with a 
customer are deferred and recorded as a contract asset if the period of benefit is expected to be greater than one year. For our retail 
customers, this period of benefit has been determined to be less than one year. As such, we applied the practical expedient that allows 
such costs to be expensed as incurred.
 
Taxes, Surcharges and Subsidies
We collect various taxes, Universal Service Funds (“USF”) surcharges (primarily federal USF), and certain other surcharges from our 
customers and subsequently remits these taxes to governmental authorities. 
 
In June 2015, we accepted the FCC offer of support to price cap carriers under the Connect America Fund (“CAF”) Phase II program, 
which was intended to provide long-term support for broadband build commitments in high cost unserved or underserved areas. The 
seven-year funding term ended on December 31, 2021. The Universal Service Administrative Company (“USAC”) and the FCC are 
reviewing carriers’ CAF II program completion data, and if USAC or the FCC determines that we did not satisfy certain applicable CAF 
Phase II requirements, we could be required to return a portion of the funds previously received and may be subject to certain other 
penalties, requirements and obligations. 
 
In May 2022, we accepted the FCC offer under the Rural Digital Opportunity Fund (“RDOF”) Phase I program, which provides funding 
over a ten-year period to support the construction of broadband networks in rural communities across the country. We accepted $37 
million in annual support through 2032 in return for our commitment to make broadband available to households within the RDOF eligible 
areas. We will recognize the FCC’s RDOF Phase I subsidies into revenue on a straight-line basis over the ten-year funding 
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS PARENT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(Unaudited)
 
 

 
term which will end March 31, 2032. We are required to complete the RDOF deployment by December 31, 2028. Thereafter, USAC and 
the FCC will review carriers’ RDOF program completion data, and if USAC or the FCC determines that we did not satisfy applicable FCC 
RDOF requirements, we could be required to return a portion of the funds previously received and may be subject to certain other 
penalties, requirements and obligations. Fines and penalties could also be assessed to the extent Frontier were ever to decide to 
surrender RDOF locations previously awarded. We accrue for any potential shortfall in the household build commitment that we deem to 
be probable and reasonably estimated.
 
On July 24, 2024, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit held that certain delegations of authority in the USF contribution system 
are unconstitutional. The court remanded the case to the FCC. The Fifth Circuit subsequently stayed the decision to allow the FCC to file 
a petition with, the U.S. Supreme Court seeking review. The stay allows for the continued collection of USF contributions while the 
Supreme Court considers the case. The precise impact of the case is unclear at this time, including the extent to which the decision 
applies to parties other than the petitioner.   We cannot predict how this or future court decisions will impact the company’s ability to 
receive federal universal service funds in the future.
 

g) Property, Plant and Equipment:
Property, plant, and equipment are stated at original cost, including capitalized interest, or fair market value as of the date of acquisition 
for acquired properties. Maintenance and repairs are charged to operating expenses as incurred. The gross book value of routine 
property, plant and equipment retirements is charged against accumulated depreciation.

 
h) Definite Lived Intangible Assets: 

Intangible assets are initially recorded at estimated fair value. Customer relationship intangibles were established for business and 
wholesale customers. These intangibles are amortized on a straight-line basis over their assigned useful lives of between 11 and 16 
years. Additionally, trademark and tradename assets established upon emergence are amortized on a straight-line basis over 5 years. 
We review such intangible assets annually, or more often if indicators of impairment arise, to determine whether there is evidence that 
indicates an impairment condition may exist that would necessitate a change in useful life and a different amortization period.
 

(i) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of:
We review long-lived assets to be held and used, including customer lists and property, plant and equipment, and long-lived assets to be 
disposed of for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be 
recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to the future 
undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. Recoverability of assets held for sale is measured by comparing the 
carrying amount of the assets to their estimated fair market value. If any assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment is 
measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the estimated fair value. Also, we periodically reassess the 
useful lives of our long-lived assets to determine whether any changes are required.
 

j) Lease Accounting: 
We determine if an arrangement contains a lease at inception. Right-of-use (ROU) assets represent our right to use an underlying asset 
for the lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating and Finance 
lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease 
term. As most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at 
commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The operating and finance lease ROU asset also includes any 
lease payments made and excludes lease incentives. Our lease terms used in accounting for leases may reflect options to extend or 
terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. Lease expense for operating leases is recognized on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. ROU assets for operating leases are recorded to 
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS PARENT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(Unaudited)
 
 

 
“Other Assets”, and the related liabilities recorded to “Other current liabilities”, and “Other liabilities” on our consolidated balance sheets. 
Assets subject to finance leases are included in “Property, Plant & Equipment”, with corresponding liabilities recorded to “Other current 
liabilities”, and “Other liabilities” on our consolidated balance sheets. 
 
We assess potential impairments to our leases annually, or as indicators exist, if indicators of impairment arise to determine whether 
there is evidence that indicate an impairment condition may exist. 
 

 k)  Income Taxes and Deferred Income Taxes: 
We file a consolidated federal income tax return. We utilize the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the 
asset and liability method, deferred income taxes are recorded for the tax effect of temporary differences between the financial 
statement basis and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using tax rates expected to be in effect when the temporary differences are 
expected to reverse.
 
We recognize deferred tax assets to the extent that we believe that these assets are more likely than not to be realized. In making such 
a determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary 
differences, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. If we determine that we are not able to realize a portion of our net 
deferred tax assets in the future, we would make an adjustment to the deferred tax asset valuation allowance, which would increase the 
provision for income taxes.
 
The tax effect of a change in tax law or rates included in income tax expense from continuing operations includes effect of changes in 
deferred tax assets and liabilities initially recognized through a charge or credit to other comprehensive income. The residual tax effects 
typically are released when the item giving rise to the tax effect is disposed of, liquidated, or terminated. 
 

l)   Stock Plans:
We have one active stock-based compensation plan under which grants are made and awards remain outstanding. Awards under this 
plan may be made to employees, directors or consultants of the Company or its affiliates, as determined by the Compensation and 
Human Capital Committee of the Board. Awards may be made in the form of restricted stock, restricted stock units, incentive stock 
options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights or other stock-based awards, including awards with performance, market, 
and time-vesting conditions. See Note 12 for further details. 

 
The compensation cost recognized is based on awards ultimately expected to vest. GAAP requires forfeitures to be estimated and 
revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.
 

(2)      Merger Agreement:
 

On September 4, 2024, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Verizon Communications Inc., a 
Delaware corporation (“Verizon”), and France Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of Verizon (“Merger 
Sub”), pursuant to which, subject to the satisfaction or waiver (to the extent permitted by law) of specified conditions, Merger Sub will be 
merged with and into the Company (the “Merger”), with the Company surviving the Merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of Verizon.  

 
Subject to such terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, which has been unanimously approved by the Board, at the effective time of 
the Merger (the “Effective Time”), each share of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company issued and outstanding as of 
immediately prior to the Effective Time (subject to certain exceptions set forth in the Merger Agreement) shall be converted into the right to 
receive $38.50 in cash, without interest (the “Merger Consideration”).  
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At the Effective Time, other than as set forth below, each outstanding RSU (as defined below) and PSU (as defined below) will vest and be 
canceled and the holder thereof will be entitled to receive an amount in cash equal to the number of shares of Company Common Stock 
underlying such award (in the case of PSUs, based on attainment of all applicable performance goals at the greater of target and actual level 
of performance measured at the Effective Time) multiplied by the Merger Consideration. At the Effective Time, a portion of the outstanding 
RSUs and PSUs granted following the date of the Merger Agreement (determined by proration of any such grant based on the time remaining 
between the Effective Time and the end of the relevant vesting period) shall be automatically converted into a number of unvested restricted 
stock units of Verizon (“Verizon RSUs”) equal to the number of such RSUs and PSUs multiplied by an exchange ratio equal to the Merger 
Consideration divided by the five day volume weighted average price of Verizon common stock ending with the second complete trading day 
immediately prior to the closing date. Such conversion of PSUs shall be based on attainment of all applicable performance goals at the 
greater of target and actual level of performance measured at the Effective Time. The Verizon RSUs shall be subject to the same terms and 
conditions as applied to the RSUs and PSUs of the Company (including time-based vesting conditions but excluding performance-based 
vesting conditions) prior to the Effective Time. 

 
The consummation of the Merger is subject to certain closing conditions, including, among other things: (i) the approval of the holders of a 
majority of the voting power represented by the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock entitled to vote thereon (the “Company 
Stockholder Approval”); (ii) the expiration or early termination of the applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust 
Improvements Act of 1976, as amended; (iii) the receipt of certain required consents or approvals from the FCC and certain specified state 
regulatory authorities; (iv) the absence of legal restraints prohibiting the Merger; and (v) other customary conditions specified in the Merger 
Agreement. The transaction is not subject to a financing condition. Subject to such conditions, the Company expects to consummate the 
merger by the first quarter of 2026.

 
The Merger Agreement contains certain termination rights for the Company and Verizon, including, among others, the right of (1) either party 
to terminate the Merger Agreement if the Merger is not consummated by March 4, 2026 (subject to two automatic three-month extensions if 
certain closing conditions have not been satisfied), (2) the Company, prior to receiving the Company Stockholder Approval, to terminate the 
Merger Agreement in order to enter into a definitive acquisition agreement providing for a Superior Proposal (as defined in the Merger 
Agreement) and (3) Verizon to terminate the Merger Agreement if the Board changes its recommendation with respect to the Merger 
Agreement. 

 
Upon termination of the Merger Agreement under specified circumstances, including as a result of the Company terminating the Merger 
Agreement in order to enter into a definitive acquisition agreement with respect to a Superior Proposal or by Verizon as a result of the Board 
changing its recommendation with respect to the Merger, the Company will be required to pay Verizon a termination fee equal to $320 million. 
Additionally, upon termination of the Merger Agreement under specified circumstances relating to the failure to obtain certain specified 
antitrust or other regulatory approvals, Verizon will be required to pay the Company a termination fee equal to $590 million.

 
The Company has incurred and will incur certain costs relating to the proposed Merger, such as financial advisory, legal, accounting and other 
professional services fees. 
 

(3)      Recent Accounting Pronouncements:
 
Financial Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted
 
ASU No. 2024-03 – Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Expense Disaggregation Disclosures. This update 
requires public business entities to provide detailed disclosures in the notes to financial statements, disaggregating specific expense 
categories within relevant income statement captions. The required categories include purchases of inventory, employee compensation, 
deprecation, intangible asset amortization, and deprecation, intangible asset amortization, and depletion. The standard is 

11
 
 

 
 



PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS PARENT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(Unaudited)
 
 

 
effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and for interim periods within annual reporting periods beginning 
after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on tis consolidated 
financial statements and related disclosures.
 
ASU No. 2023-09 – Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. The amendments in this Update require that public 
business entities on an annual basis (1) disclose specific categories in the rate reconciliation and (2) provide additional information for 
reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold (if the effect of those reconciling items is equal to or greater than 5 percent of the amount 
computed by multiplying pretax income [or loss] by the applicable statutory income tax rate). For public business entities, the amendments in 
this Update are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024.
 
ASU No. 2023-07 – Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to reportable segment disclosures. The amendments in this update 
improve financial reporting by requiring disclosure of incremental segment information on an annual and interim basis for all public entities to 
enable investors to develop more decision-useful financial analyses. Currently, Topic 280 requires that a public entity disclose certain 
information about its reportable segments. For example, a public entity is required to report a measure of segment profit or loss that the 
CODM uses to assess segment performance and make decisions about allocating resources. Topic 280 also requires other specified 
segment items and amounts, such as depreciation, amortization, and depletion expense, to be disclosed under certain circumstances. The 
amendments in this update do not change or remove those disclosure requirements. The amendments in this update also do not change 
how a public entity identifies its operating segments, aggregates those operating segments, or applies the quantitative thresholds to 
determine its reportable segments. The amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and 
interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted.
 

 
 
 

(4)     Revenue Recognition:
 
We categorize our products, services, and other revenues into the following categories:
 
Data and Internet services include broadband services for consumer and business customers. We provide data transmission services to 
high volume business customers and other carriers with dedicated high capacity circuits (“nonswitched access”) including services to 
wireless providers (“wireless backhaul”);
 
Voice services include traditional local and long-distance wireline services, Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP) services, as well as a 
number of unified messaging services offered to our consumer and business customers. Voice services also include the long-distance voice 
origination and termination services that we provide to our business customers and other carriers;
 
Video services include revenues generated from traditional television (TV) services provided directly to consumer customers as well as 
satellite TV services provided through various satellite providers, and through partnerships with over-the-top (OTT) video providers. Video 
services also includes pay-per-view revenues, video on demand, equipment rentals, and video advertising. We have made the strategic 
decision to limit sales of new traditional TV services, focusing on our broadband products and OTT video options;
 
Other customer revenue includes switched access revenue, rents collected for collocation services, and other services and fees. Switched 
access revenue includes revenues derived from allowing other carriers to use our network to originate and/or terminate their local and long-
distance voice traffic. These services are primarily billed on a minutes-of-use basis applying tariffed rates filed with the FCC or state 
agencies; and
 
Subsidy and other regulatory revenue include revenues generated from cost subsidies from state and federal authorities, including RDOF. 
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The following tables provide a summary of revenues, by category.
 
 

               

   
For the three months ended 

September 30,  
For the nine months ended 

September 30,  
 ($ in millions)  2024  2023  2024  2023  
               
 Data and Internet services  $  1,004  $  895  $  2,934  $  2,637  
 Voice services    301    341    934    1,044  
 Video services    83    104    265    333  
 Other    83    81    250    253  
 Revenue from contracts with customers (1)    1,471    1,421    4,383    4,267  
 Subsidy and other revenue    18    15    48    58  
 Total revenue  $  1,489  $  1,436  $  4,431  $  4,325  
               

   
For the three months ended 

September 30,  
For the nine months ended 

September 30,  
 ($ in millions)  2024  2023  2024  2023  
               
 Consumer  $  789  $  787  $  2,365  $  2,323  
 Business and wholesale    682    634    2,018    1,944  
 Revenue from contracts with customers (1)    1,471    1,421    4,383    4,267  
 Subsidy and other revenue    18    15    48    58  
 Total revenue  $  1,489  $  1,436  $  4,431  $  4,325  
               

 
 
 
 

 

(1) Includes lease revenue of $13 million and $40 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and $14 million and $44 million for the 
three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively.

 
The following is a summary of the changes in the contract liabilities:

  
 

         

   Contract Liabilities  
 ($ in millions)  Current  Noncurrent  
         
 Balance at December 31, 2023  $  33 $  16  
 Revenue recognized included in opening contract balance    (26)   (14) 
 Credits granted, excluding amounts recognized as revenue    26   12 
 Reclassified between current and noncurrent    -   - 
 Balance at September 30, 2024  $  33 $  14 
         
         
   Contract Liabilities  
 ($ in millions)  Current  Noncurrent  
         
 Balance at December 31, 2022  $  28 $  17 
 Revenue recognized included in opening contract balance    (29)   (9) 
 Credits granted, excluding amounts recognized as revenue    31   15 
 Reclassified between current and noncurrent    4   (5) 
 Balance at September 30, 2023  $  34 $  18 
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The unsatisfied obligations for retail customers consist of amounts in advance billings, which are expected to be earned within the following 
monthly billing cycle. Unsatisfied obligations for wholesale customers are based on a point-in-time calculation and determined by the number 
of circuits provided and the contractual price. These wholesale customer obligations change from period to period based on new circuits 
added as well as circuits that are terminated.
 
The following table includes estimated revenue expected to be recognized in the future related to performance obligations that are 
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) at the end of the reporting period:
 
 

      
 ($ in millions)  Revenue from contracts with customers  
 2024 (remaining three months)  $  284  
 2025    255  
 2026    148  
 2027    53  
 2028    23  
 Thereafter    214  
    Total  $  977  
      

 
 

 
 
 

(5)     Accounts Receivable:
 

The components of accounts receivable, net at September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 are as follows:
 
 

         

         
    ($ in millions)  September 30, 2024  December 31, 2023  
 Retail and Wholesale  $  448  $  438  
 Other    52    61  
 Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts    (81)   (53) 
 Accounts receivable, net  $  419  $  446  

 
We maintain an allowance for credit losses based on the estimated ability to collect accounts receivable. The allowance for credit losses is 
increased by recording an expense for the provision for bad debts for retail customers, and through decreases to revenue at the time of 
billing for wholesale customers. The allowance is decreased when customer accounts are written off, or when customers are given credits.
 
The provision for bad debts was $30 million and $24 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
Approximately $415 million and $143 million of credits related to customers are included in other current liabilities on our consolidated 
balance sheets as of September 30, 2024, and December 31, 2023, respectively.
 
In accordance with ASC 326, we performed calculations to estimate expected credit losses, utilizing rates that are consistent with our write 
offs (net of recoveries) because such events affect the entity’s loss given default experience.
 
Activity in the allowance for credit losses for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 was as follows: 
 
 

     

 ($ in millions)   
 Balance at December 31, 2023 $  53   
    Provision for bad debt   30   
    Amounts charged to revenue   76   
    Write offs charged against the allowance   (78)  
 Balance at September 30, 2024 $  81   
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(6)     Property, Plant and Equipment:

 
   Property, plant and equipment, net at September 30, 2024 and December 23, 2023 are as follows:

 
         

       
 ($ in millions)  September 30, 2024  December 31, 2023  
 Property, plant and equipment  $  18,533 $  16,324 
 Less:  Accumulated depreciation    (3,307)   (2,391) 
 Property, plant and equipment, net  $  15,226 $  13,933 
         

As of September 30, 2024, our materials and supplies were $453 million, as compared to $594 million as of December 31, 2023. 
Components of this include fiber, network electronics, and customer premises equipment. 
 
Beginning in the second half of 2023, Frontier negotiated payment terms with certain of our vendors, (referred to as vendor financing), which 
are excluded from capital expenditures and reported as financing activities on the statement of cash flows. During the nine months ended 
September 30, 2024, our capital expenditures were $1,991 million.   During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, our vendor 
financing payments were $415 million. As of September 30, 2024, there was $632 million, $5 million, and $15 million in “Accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities”, “Other current liabilities” and “Other liabilities”, respectively, for payables associated with capital expenditures, and 
$56 million included in “Other current liabilities” for vendor financing payables associated with capital expenditures. For the nine months 
ended September 30, 2024, we had capitalized interest of $35 million. 
 
Depreciation expense is principally based on the composite group method. Depreciation expense was as follows: 
 

               

  
 For the three months ended 

September 30,  For the nine months ended 
September 30,  

 ($ in millions)  2024  2023  2024  2023  
               
 Depreciation expense  $  330   $  276   $  955   $  799   
               

 
 
 

(7)     Intangibles: 
 

We consider whether the carrying values of finite-lived intangible assets and property plant and equipment may not be recoverable or 
whether the carrying value of certain indefinite-lived intangible assets were impaired. No impairment was present for either intangibles or 
property plant and equipment as of September 30, 2024, and 2023.
 
The balances of these assets as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 are as follows:                      

   September 30, 2024  December 31, 2023  

  
 

Gross Carrying  Accumulated  Net Carrying  Gross Carrying  Accumulated  Net Carrying  
 ($ in millions)  Amount  Amortization  Amount  Amount  Amortization  Amount  
                         
 Intangibles:                    
 Customer Relationships - Business  $  800  $  (248) $  552   $  800  $  (194) $  606  
 Customer Relationships - Wholesale    3,491    (746)   2,745     3,491    (582)   2,909  
 Trademarks & Tradenames    150    (103)   47     150    (80)   70  
 Total other intangibles  $  4,441  $  (1,097) $  3,344   $  4,441  $  (856) $  3,585  
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Amortization expense was as follows:
 
 

               

  
 For the three months ended 

September 30,
 For the nine months ended

September 30,
 

 ($ in millions)  2024  2023  2024  2023  
               
 Amortization expense  $  80  $  80  $  241  $  241  
               

We amortize our intangible assets on a straight-line basis, over the assigned useful lives of 16 years for our wholesale customer 
relationships, 11 years for our business customer relationships, and five years for our trademarks and tradenames.

 
 
 
 

(8)     Fair Value of Financial Instruments:
 

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts and estimated fair values for total long-term debt at September 30, 2024 and 
December 31, 2023. For the other financial instruments including cash, short-term investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and 
other current liabilities, the carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the relatively short maturities of those instruments.
 
The fair value of our total long-term debt is estimated based upon quoted market prices at the reporting date for those financial instruments.

 
             

     
  September 30, 2024  December 31, 2023
             
($ in millions)   Carrying Amount   Fair Value   Carrying Amount   Fair Value
             
Total debt  $  11,571 $  11,839 $  11,231 $  10,712
             

 
 

(
 

(9)    Long-Term Debt: 
 

The activity in long-term debt is summarized as follows:
 
 

               

               

 
    

  
For the nine months ended

September 30, 2024      
      Principal        
   January 1,  Payments  New  September 30,  
 ($ in millions)  2024  and Retirements  Borrowings  2024  
                         
 Secured debt issued by Frontier  $  8,848 $  (410) $  - $  8,438  
 Secured debt issued by subsidiaries    1,633   -   750   2,383  
 Unsecured debt issued by subsidiaries    750   -   -   750  
 Principal outstanding  $  11,231 $  (410) $  750 $  11,571  
                           
 Less: Debt issuance costs    (71)           (91)  
 Less: Current portion    (15)           (10)  
 Less: Debt premium / (discount)    (64)         (46)  

 Plus: Unamortized fair value adjustments (1)    165
       

  132  

 Total Long-term debt  $  11,246         $  11,556  
                           

 
 
(1) Upon emergence, we adjusted the carrying value of our debt to fair value. The adjustment consisted of the elimination of the existing unamortized debt issuance costs and 

unamortized discounts and recording a balance of $236 million as a fair value adjustment. The fair value accounting adjustment is being amortized into interest expense 
using the effective interest method.
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Additional information regarding our senior unsecured debt, senior secured debt, and subsidiary debt at September 30, 2024 and December 
31, 2023 is as follows:
 
 

              

   September 30, 2024   December 31, 2023  
   Principal  Interest   Principal  Interest  
 ($ in millions)  Outstanding  Rate   Outstanding  Rate  
              
 Secured debt issued by Frontier             
 Term loan due 10/8/2027  $  - -   $  1,435  9.220% (Variable)  
 Term loan due 7/1/2031    1,025  8.763% (Variable)     - -  
 First lien notes due 10/15/2027    1,150  5.875%     1,150  5.875%  
 First lien notes due 5/1/2028    1,550  5.000%     1,550  5.000%  
 First lien notes due 5/15/2030    1,200  8.750%     1,200  8.750%  
 First lien notes due 3/15/2031    750  8.625%     750  8.625%  
 Second lien notes due 5/1/2029    1,000  6.750%     1,000  6.750%  
 Second lien notes due 11/1/2029    750  5.875%     750  5.875%  
 Second lien notes due 1/15/2030    1,000  6.000%     1,000  6.000%  
 IDRB due 5/1/2030    13  6.200%     13  6.200%  
 Total secured debt issued by Frontier    8,438       8,848    
              
 Secured debt issued by subsidiaries             
 Debentures due 11/15/2031 (2)    47  8.500%     47  8.500%  
 Series 2023-1 revenue term notes Class A-2 due 7/20/2028    1,119  6.600%     1,119  6.600%  
 Series 2023-1 revenue term notes Class B due 7/20/2028    155  8.300%     155  8.300%  
 Series 2023-1 revenue term notes class C due 7/20/2028    312  11.500%     312  11.500%  
 Series 2024-1 revenue term notes Class A-2 due 5/20/2031    530  6.190%     - -  
 Series 2024-1 revenue term notes Class B due 5/30/2031    73  7.020%     - -  
 Series 2024-1 revenue term notes Class C due 5/20/2031    147  11.160%     - -  
 Total secured debt issued by subsidiaries    2,383       1,633    
              
 Unsecured debt issued by subsidiaries             
 Debentures due 5/15/2027    200  6.750%     200  6.750%  
 Debentures due 2/1/2028    300  6.860%     300  6.860%  
 Debentures due 2/15/2028    200  6.730%     200  6.730%  
 Debentures due 10/15/2029    50  8.400%     50  8.400%  
 Total unsecured debt issued by subsidiaries    750       750    
              
 Principal outstanding  $  11,571  6.997% (1)   $  11,231  7.103% (1)  
              

 
 

(1) Interest rate represents a weighted average of the stated interest rates of multiple issuances. The anticipated repayment date of July 2028 is used for the Series 2023-1 
Revenue Term Notes, classes A-2, B, and C when calculating the weighted average, and the anticipated repayment date of May 2031 is used for the Series 2024-1 
Revenue Term Notes, classes A-2, B, and C when calculating the weighted average.

(2)   $47 million principal amount in remaining debt of our subsidiary Frontier Southwest Incorporated which was defeased in connection with the closing of the August 2023 
securitization transaction.

 
Summaries of our various credit and debt agreements, including our credit agreements and the indentures for our senior secured first lien 
and senior secured second lien notes, and the indentures for the secured fiber network revenue term notes and secured fiber network 
revenue variable funding notes are contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K including agreements filed as exhibits thereto.
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Credit Facilities and Term Loans 
 
Revolving Facility 
Subject to customary exceptions and thresholds, the security package under the Revolving Facility includes pledges of the equity interests in 
certain of our subsidiaries, which is currently limited to certain specified pledged entities and substantially all personal property of Frontier 
Video, which same assets also secure our First Lien Notes. The Revolving Facility is guaranteed by the same subsidiaries that guarantee 
the First Lien Notes. After giving effect to approximately $265 million of letters of credit outstanding, we had $660 million of available 
borrowing capacity under the Revolving Facility as of September 30, 2024.
 
The Revolving Facility includes customary negative covenants for loan agreements of this type, including covenants limiting Frontier and our 
restricted subsidiaries’ (other than certain covenants therein which are limited to subsidiary guarantors) ability to, among other things, incur 
additional indebtedness, create liens on assets, make investments, loans or advances, engage in mergers, consolidations, sales of assets 
and acquisitions, pay dividends and distributions and make payments in respect of certain material payment subordinated indebtedness, in 
each case subject to customary exceptions for loan agreements of this type.
 
The Revolving Facility also includes certain customary representations and warranties, affirmative covenants, and events of default, 
including, but not limited to, payment defaults, breaches of representations and warranties, covenant defaults, certain events under ERISA, 
change of control or damage to a material portion of the collateral.
 
On May 22, 2024, Frontier Communications Holdings, LLC, a subsidiary of Frontier (“Frontier Holdings”), entered into an amendment (the 
“2024 Credit Agreement Amendment”) to its existing credit agreement that governs its Revolving Facility which, among other things, (i) 
increased the aggregate amount of certain additional obligations permitted to be outstanding, including first lien debt, and securitization and 
receivables facilities, and non-loan party debt, from $2,500 million to $5,500 million; provided that at least 40% of the net available cash from 
the first $1,915 million in securitization and receivables facilities received after May 22, 2024 (excluding net available cash received from 
drawings with respect to $500 million of commitments of variable funding notes) is applied to prepay the Borrower’s existing term loans and 
other applicable indebtedness, and 100% of the net available cash from securitization and receivables facilities in excess thereof (up to the 
cap of $5,500 million) shall be applied to prepay the Borrower’s existing term loans and other applicable indebtedness; (ii) limited future 
securitizations and receivables facilities to assets located in Texas and/or Florida; and (iii) amended the financial maintenance covenant for 
the benefit of the Revolving Facility by, commencing with the period ending June  30, 2024, (a) including outstanding securitization and 
receivables facilities in the calculation of indebtedness and (b)  increasing the maximum financial maintenance covenant leverage ratio 
thereunder to 5.25:1.00, with a step-down to 4.75:1.00 commencing with the period ending March 31, 2027, and continuing thereafter. The 
2024 Credit Agreement Amendment became effective on July 1, 2024, when $402 million of net available cash from the securitization closing 
on such date was applied to prepay existing term loans. 
 
On July 30, 2024, Frontier Holdings entered into a further amendment to its existing credit agreement that governs its Revolving Facility, 
pursuant to which $50 million of revolving credit commitments of a terminating lender were replaced by $75 million of commitments from a 
new lender, increasing overall capacity from $900 million to $925 million. The maturity date of the Revolving Facility will be the earliest of (a) 
April 30, 2028, (b) 91 days prior to the maturity of the term loan facility, (c) unless such notes have been repaid and/or redeemed in full, the 
date that is 91 days prior to the stated maturity date of our 5.875% First Lien Notes due 2027, and (d) unless such notes have been repaid 
and/or redeemed in full, the date that is 91 days prior to the stated maturity date of our 5.000% First Lien Notes due 2028. 
 
Term Loan Facility
On July 1, 2024, Frontier Holdings entered into an amendment to the existing Term Loan Facility which, among other things (i) extended the 
maturity date of $1.025 billion of the Term Loan to July 1, 2031; (ii) lowered (x) the margin over adjusted Term SOFR with respect to the Term 
Loan from 3.75% to 3.50% and (y) the margin over 
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the alternative base rate with respect to the Term Loan from 2.75% to 2.50%; and (iii) eliminated the credit spread adjustment previously 
applicable to the Term Loan.
 
Subject to certain exceptions and thresholds, the security package under the Term Loan Facility includes pledges of the equity interests in 
certain of our subsidiaries, which as of the issue date is limited to certain specified pledged entities and substantially all personal property of 
Frontier Video Services Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Frontier Video”), which same assets also secure the First Lien Notes (as defined 
below). The Term Loan Facility is guaranteed by the same subsidiaries that guarantee the First Lien Notes.
 
The Term Loan Facility includes customary negative covenants for loan agreements of this type, including covenants limiting Frontier and 
our restricted subsidiaries’ (other than certain covenants therein which are limited to subsidiary guarantors) ability to, among other things, 
incur additional indebtedness, create liens on assets, make investments, loans or advances, engage in mergers, consolidations, sales of 
assets and acquisitions, pay dividends and distributions and make payments in respect of certain material payment subordinated 
indebtedness, in each case subject to customary exceptions for loan agreements of this type.
 
The Term Loan Facility also includes certain customary representations and warranties, affirmative covenants and events of default, 
including, but not limited to, payment defaults, breaches of representations and warranties, covenant defaults, certain events under ERISA, 
upon the conversion date, unstayed judgments in favor of a third-party involving an aggregate liability in excess of a certain threshold, 
change of control, upon the conversion date, specified governmental actions having a material adverse effect or condemnation or damage to 
a material portion of the collateral.
 
July 2024 Fiber Securitization Transaction
 
On July 1, 2024, Frontier Issuer LLC (“Frontier Issuer”), the Company’s limited-purpose, bankruptcy remote, subsidiary completed the 
issuance of $750 million aggregate principal amount of secured fiber network revenue term notes consisting of $530 million 6.19% Series 
2024-1, Class A-2 term notes, $73 million 7.02% Series 2024-1, Class B term notes and $147 million 11.16% Series 2024-1, Class C term 
notes, each with an anticipated repayment term of seven years (collectively, the “Notes”). Collectively, the Notes have a weighted average 
yield of approximately 7.4%. The Notes are secured by certain of Frontier’s fiber assets and associated customer contracts in the North 
Texas area, in addition to those in the Dallas Metropolitan area contributed in the Series 2023-1 Notes offering, and qualify as green bonds.
 

           

Security Issue Date  Amount Outstanding  Interest Rate (1)  
Anticipated Repayment 

Date  Final Maturity Date
Series 2023-1, Class A-2 term notes August 8, 2023  $  1,119,000,000  6.60%  July 20, 2028  August 20, 2053
Series 2023-1, Class B term notes August 8, 2023  $  155,000,000  8.30%  July 20, 2028  August 20, 2053
Series 2023-1, Class C term notes August 8, 2023  $  312,000,000  11.50%  July 20, 2028  August 20, 2053

Series 2024-1, Class A-2 term notes July 1, 2024  $  530,000,000  6.19%  May 20, 2031  June 20, 2054
Series 2024-1, Class B term notes July 1, 2024  $  73,000,000  7.02%  May 20, 2031  June 20, 2054
Series 2024-1, Class C term notes July 1, 2024  $  147,000,000  11.16%  May 20, 2031  June 20, 2054

           
(1)   If Frontier Issuer has not repaid or refinanced any Class of Notes of a Series of Fiber Term Notes prior to the Anticipated Repayment Date, additional interest will accrue 

thereon in an amount equal to the greater of (i) 5.00% per annum and (ii) the excess amount, if any, by which the sum of the following exceeds the interest rate for such 
note: (A) the yield to maturity (adjusted to a “mortgage-equivalent basis” pursuant to the standards and practices of the Securities Industry and Financial Markets 
Association) on the ARD for such note of the United States Treasury Security having a remaining term closest to 10 years plus (B) 5.00% plus (C) the post-ARD note spread 
applicable to such Note.

 
In addition, on July 1, 2024, Frontier amended its Secured Fiber Network Revenue Variable Funding Notes, Series 2023-2, Class A-1, facility 
(the “VFN Amendment”) to reduce the available Variable Funding Notes commitment amount to $0, with the ability to increase the 
commitment amount up to $500 million in the future upon the satisfaction of certain conditions, and to extend the maturity date to June 2028.

19
 
 

 
 



PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS PARENT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(Unaudited)
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

(10)     Restructuring and Other Charges:
 
Restructuring and other charges consists of severance and employee costs related to workforce reductions. 
 
During the nine-month period ended September 30, 2024, we incurred $88 million in restructuring charges and other costs consisting of $11 
million in pension/OPEB special termination benefit enhancements related to a voluntary separation program, $25 million of severance and 
employee costs resulting from workforce reductions, and $52 million of costs associated with the Verizon merger and other restructuring 
activities.

During the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, we incurred $48 million in restructuring charges and other costs consisting of $48 
million of severance and employee costs resulting from workforce reductions, of which, approximately $23 million and $15 million related to 
larger workforce reductions during the second and third quarters of 2023, respectively.

The following is a summary of the changes in the liabilities established for restructuring and related programs:
      

      
 ($ in millions)     
      
 Balance at January 1, 2024  $  10  
 Severance expense    25  
 Pension / OPEB special termination benefit enhancements    11  
 Other costs    52  
 Cash payments during the period    (68) 
 Balance at September 30, 2024  $  30 

 
 
 
 
 

(11)   Investment and Other Income, Net:
 
The components of investment and other income, net are as follows:
 

               

   
For the three months ended 

September 30,  
For the nine months ended 

September 30,  
 ($ in millions)  2024  2023  2024  2023  
               
 Interest and dividend income  $  20 $  22 $  58 $  60 
 Pension benefit    9   5    30   14 
 OPEB costs   (1)   (2)   (3)   (7) 
 OPEB remeasurement gain (loss)    (21)   46   6   38 
 Pension remeasurement gain (loss)    23   -   25   - 
 All other, net    (1)   (4)   1   (4) 
 Total investment and other income, net  $  29 $  67 $  117 $  101 
               

 

As a result of special termination benefit enhancements related to a voluntary separation plan, Frontier remeasured its pension plan and 
postretirement benefit plan obligations, resulting in remeasurement gains of $25 million and $6 million, respectively, for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2024. 
 
In the first nine months of 2023, Frontier amended the medical coverage for certain postretirement benefit plans, which resulted in a $38 
million net remeasurement gain. The net gain was comprised of a loss of $20 million in the first quarter, offset by a remeasurement gain of 
$12 million in the second quarter, and a gain of $46 million in the third quarter, primarily due to discount rate changes. 
 
Pension and OPEB benefit (cost) consists of interest costs, expected return on plan assets, amortization of prior service (costs) and 
recognition of actuarial (gain) loss. Service cost components of pension and OPEB benefit 
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costs are included in “Selling, general, and administrative expenses” on our consolidated statements of operations. 
 

(12)    Stock Plans: 
 

Frontier Communications Parent, Inc. has one active long-term incentive plan, under which grants are made and awards remain outstanding: 
the 2024 Management Incentive Plan (the “2024 Incentive Plan”).  The plan was approved by shareholders at the Annual Meeting on May 
15, 2024, with 8,765,000 shares available for awards. The 2024 Incentive Plan permits stock-based awards to be made to employees, 
directors, or consultants of the Company or its affiliates, as determined by the Compensation and Human Capital Committee of the Board. 
Available shares under the previous plan of 1,151,334 were rolled into the new 2024 plan for a total of 9,916,334 shares reserved for 
issuance. Equity awards have been issued in the form of time-based restricted stock units (RSUs) and performance-based stock units 
(PSUs). As of September 30, 2024, there were 9,859,025 shares  available to grant. 
 
Restricted Stock Units
The following summary presents information regarding unvested restricted stock under the 2024 Incentive Plan:
 

          

    Weighted     
    Average    
   Number of    Grant Date  Aggregate  
  Shares  Fair Value  Fair Value  
  (in thousands)  (per share)  (in millions)  
Balance at January 1, 2024   2,468 $ 24.37 $  63 

Restricted stock units granted   1,367 $ 23.46 $  49 
Restricted stock units vested   (1,348) $ 25.76 $  (48) 
Restricted stock units forfeited   (71) $ 23.48    

Balance at September 30, 2024   2,416 $ 24.58 $  86 
          

 
 

For purposes of determining compensation expense, the fair value of each restricted stock grant is estimated based on the closing price of 
our common stock on the date of grant. The non-vested restricted stock units granted in 2022, 2023, and 2024 generally vest, and are 
expensed, on a ratable basis over three years from the grant date of the award. Total remaining unrecognized compensation cost associated 
with unvested restricted stock awards that is deferred at September 30, 2024 was $42 million and the weighted average vesting period over 
which this cost is expected to be recognized is approximately 2 years. 

 
None of the restricted stock awards may be sold, assigned, pledged, or otherwise transferred, voluntarily or involuntarily, by the employees 
until the restrictions lapse, subject to limited exceptions. The restrictions are time-based. Compensation expense, recognized in “Selling, 
general, and administrative expenses”, of $25 million and $29 million for the nine month-periods ended September 30, 2024, and 2023, 
respectively, has been recorded in connection with restricted stock. 
 
Performance Stock Units
We currently have outstanding performance stock units (“PSU”) that were granted in 2022, 2023 and 2024. Under these awards, a target 
number of PSUs are granted to each participant with respect to a three-year performance period (“The Measurement Period”). For the 2024 
PSU awards, for example, the Measurement Period is from January 1, 2024, through December 31, 2026. 
 
The performance metrics under the 2024 PSU awards consist of (1) Adjusted Fiber EBITDA, (2) Fiber Revenue and (3) Relative Total 
Shareholder Return (“TSR”).  Relative TSR is based on our total return to stockholders over 
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the Measurement Period relative to the S&P 400 Mid Cap Index. Each performance metric is weighted 33.3%, the goals for the relative TSR 
metric have been fully set, and the goals for the remaining metrics have been set for the first portion of the Measurement Period.
 
The performance metrics under the 2022 and 2023 PSU awards are (1) Adjusted Fiber EBITDA, (2) Fiber Locations Constructed and (3) 
Expansion Fiber Penetration with an overall relative TSR modifier. Each performance metric is weighted 33.3% and goals for each metric 
have been set for the full Measurement Period. 
 
Achievement of the metrics for outstanding PSUs will be measured separately, and the number of awards earned will be determined based 
on actual performance relative to the targets of each performance metric. Achievement is measured on a cumulative basis for each 
performance metric individually at the end of the three-year Measurement Period with a TSR modifier for the 2022 and 2023 plans. The 
payout of the 2022, 2023 and 2024 PSUs can range from 0% to a maximum award payout of 200% of the target units. The 2021 PSU 
awards paid out at 126% of target on March 1, 2024.

 
The number of PSUs earned at the end of the Measurement Period may be more or less than the number of target PSUs granted as a result 
of performance. An executive must maintain a satisfactory performance rating during the Measurement Period and, except for limited 
circumstances, must be employed by Frontier on the determination date in order for the award to vest. The Compensation and Human 
Capital Committee will determine the number of shares earned for the Measurement Period in the first quarter of the year following the end 
of the Measurement Period. PSUs awards, to the extent earned, will be paid out in the form of common stock on a one-for-one basis. 

 
Under ASC 718, Stock Based Compensation Expense, a grant date, and the fair value of a performance award are determined once the 
targets are finalized. For the 2022 and 2023 PSU awards, targets for all of the metrics have been fully set for each performance period and 
the related expense will be amortized over the appropriate performance period. For the 2024 PSU awards, the targets related to two of the 
three performance metrics have not been established. As a result, as of September 30, 2024, we have recognized associated expense with 
respect to 1/3 of the aggregate outstanding 2024 PSU awards. 
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The following summary presents information regarding performance shares and changes during the period with regard to performance 
shares awarded under the 2024 Incentive Plan:
 

        

     Weighted   
     Average   
   Number of    Award Date   
   Shares   Fair Value   
  (in thousands)   (per share) (1)   
Balance at January 1, 2024  4,487 $ 25.33   

Target performance shares awarded, net  1,769 $ 24.35   
Target performance shares vested  (3,898) $ 25.62   
Target performance shares forfeited  (5) $ 24.86   

Balance at September 30, 2024  2,353 $ 25.22   
        
(1)  Represents the weighted average of the closing price of our stock on the date of the awards.   

 

For purposes of determining compensation expense, the fair value of each performance share grant is estimated based on the closing price 
of a share of our common stock on the date of the grant, adjusted to reflect the fair value of the relative TSR metric for the 2024 grant and 
TSR modifier for previous years. For both the nine months ended September 30, 2024, and 2023, we recognized net compensation 
expense, reflected in “Selling, general, and administrative expenses,” of $29 million, and $52 million, respectively, related to PSU awards. 
 
Non-Employee Directors
Compensation expense related to the board of directors, recognized in “Selling, general, and administrative expenses”, was $1 million for 
both the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023.
 

 
 

(13)    Income Taxes: 
 
The following is a reconciliation of the provision for income taxes computed at the federal statutory rate to income taxes computed at the 
effective rates:

               

         

   
For the three months ended 

September 30,  
For the nine months ended 

September 30,  
   2024  2023  2024  2023  
               
 Consolidated tax provision at federal statutory rate   21.0 %   21.0 %   21.0 %   21.0 %  
 State income tax provisions, net of federal              
    income tax benefit   (8.4)   (4.3)   (9.6)   5.1   
 Federal tax refund adjustment   -   -   (0.5)   -  
 Tax reserve adjustment   (0.3)   (3.0)   (0.3)   (3.1)  
 Tax Credit   0.6    6.0    0.7    6.3   
 Sec.162(m) - nondeductible Executive Compensation   (2.3)   (18.5)    (2.6)    (19.1)  
 Split Life Insurance Settlement   -   -   (1.1)   -  
 Transaction cost   (3.2)   -   (1.3)   -  
 All other, net   -   (0.5)   (0.1)   (0.5)  
 Effective tax rate   7.4 %   0.7 %   6.2 %   9.7 %  
               

Frontier considered positive and negative evidence in regard to evaluating certain state deferred tax assets during the third quarter of 2024, 
including the development of recent years of pre-tax book losses. The state tax rate includes state valuation allowances. On the basis of this 
evaluation, a valuation allowance of $299 million ($237 million net of federal benefit) was recorded as of September 30, 2024.   
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(14)    Net (Loss) Earnings Per Share:

 
The reconciliation of the net (loss) income per common share calculation is as follows:
 

 
 

              

  
For the three months ended 

September 30,  
For the nine months ended 

September 30,  

 
($ in millions and shares in thousands, except per share 
amounts) 2024  2023  2024  2023  

 Net loss used for basic and diluted earnings             
 per share:             
 Total basic net income (loss)             
 attributable to Frontier common shareholders $  (82) $  11 $  (204) $  12 
 Effect of loss related to dilutive stock units   -   -   -   - 
 Total diluted net income (loss)             
 attributable to Frontier common shareholders $  (82) $  11 $  (204) $  12 
              
 Basic earnings per share:             
 Total weighted average shares and unvested             
    restricted stock awards outstanding - basic   248,986   245,761   247,866   245,431 
 Less:  Weighted average unvested restricted stock awards   -   -   -   - 
 Total weighted average shares outstanding - basic   248,986   245,761   247,866   245,431 
              
 Basic net earnings (loss) per share             
 attributable to Frontier common shareholders $  (0.33) $  0.05 $  (0.82) $  0.05 
              
 Diluted earnings per share:             
 Total weighted average shares outstanding - basic   248,986   245,761   247,866   245,431 
 Effect of dilutive performance stock awards   -   1,686   -   1,493 
 Effect of dilutive restricted stock awards   -   -   -   412 
 Total weighted average shares outstanding - diluted   248,986   247,447   247,866   247,336 
              
 Diluted net earnings (loss) per share             
 attributable to Frontier common shareholders $  (0.33) $  0.05 $  (0.82) $  0.05 
              

 

In calculating diluted net loss per common share, the effect of certain outstanding RSUs and PSUs has been excluded from the computation 
as the effect would be antidilutive. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, RSUs of approximately 928,000 and 
1,085,000, respectively, and PSUs of approximately 237,000 and 196,000, respectively, have been excluded.
 
In calculating diluted net income per common share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, the effect of certain 
outstanding PSUs is included in the computation as their respective performance metrics have been satisfied as of September 30, 2023.
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(15)    Comprehensive Income:

 
Comprehensive income consists of net income and other gains and losses affecting shareholders’ equity (deficit) and pension/postretirement 
benefit (OPEB) liabilities that, under GAAP, are excluded from net income.
 
The components of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, are as follows:
 
 

      

  OPEB   
($ in millions)  Costs   
      
Balance at January 1, 2024 (1)  $  96    
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications    1    
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other      

comprehensive loss to net loss    (15)  
Net current-period other comprehensive loss    (14)  
Balance at September 30, 2024 (1)  $  82   
      
      
  OPEB   
($ in millions)  Costs   
      
Balance at January 1, 2023 (1)  $  79    
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications    33    
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other      

comprehensive loss to net income    (12)  
Net current-period other comprehensive income    21   
Balance at September 30, 2023 (1)  $  100   

      
 

(1) OPEB amounts are net of deferred tax balances of $29 million and $23 million as of January 1, 2024 and 2023, respectively, 
and $24 million and $31 million as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

 
The significant items reclassified from each component of accumulated other comprehensive loss are as follows:
 

                

  Amount Reclassified from    
   Accumulated Other    
  Comprehensive Income (1)    
($ in millions)              Affected Line Item in  
  For the three months ended  For the nine months ended  the Statement Where  
Details about Accumulated Other  September 30,  September 30,  Net Income (Loss)  

Comprehensive Loss Components  2024  2023  2024  2023  is Presented  
Amortization of OPEB Cost Items 
     Prior-service credits (costs)  $  6 $  6 $  19 $  16 

Income (loss) before income 
taxes  

Tax impact    (1)   (2)   (4)   (4) Income tax benefit  
  $  5  $  4  $  15 $  12 Net income  
                

 

(1) These accumulated other comprehensive income components are included in the computation of net periodic pension and OPEB   costs (see Note 16 - Retirement Plans 
for additional details). 
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(16)    Retirement Plans:
 
Frontier recognizes actuarial gains (losses) for our pension and postretirement plans in the period they occur. The components of net 
periodic benefit cost other than the service cost component for our plans as well as any actuarial gains or losses are included in “Investment 
and other income (loss)” on the consolidated statements of operations. 
 
The following tables provide the components of total pension benefit cost:
 
 

               
       Pension Benefits  

   
For the three months ended 

September 30,  
For the nine months ended 

September 30,  
 ($ in millions)  2024  2023  2024  2023  
               
 Components of total pension benefit cost              
 Service cost  $  11 $  12 $  34 $  39 
 Interest cost on projected benefit obligation    31   31   94   97 
 Expected return on plan assets    (40)   (36)   (124)   (111) 
 Pension remeasurement gain    (23)   -   (25)   - 
 Net periodic pension (benefit) costs    (21)   7   (21)   25 
 Pension special termination benefit enhancements    1   -   11   - 
 Total pension (benefit) cost  $  (20) $  7 $  (10) $  25 
               
               

 
 

 
 
 

The components of net periodic benefit cost other than the service cost component are included in “Investment and other income” on the 
consolidated statements of operations.
 
The value of our pension plan assets increased $198 million from $2,268 million at December 31, 2023 to $2,466 million at September 30, 
2024. This increase primarily resulted from changes in the market value of investments of $235 million, net of plan expenses, and 
contributions of $108 million, offset by benefit payments to participants of $145 million. 
 
As a result of special termination benefit enhancements related to a voluntary separation plan, Frontier remeasured its pension plan 
obligations, resulting in a remeasurement gain of $23 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024, and a remeasurement gain of 
$25 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024. 
 
The pension plan contains provisions that provide certain employees with the option of receiving a lump sum payment upon retirement. 
Frontier’s accounting policy is to record these payments as a settlement only if, in the aggregate, they exceed the sum of the annual service 
and interest costs for the Pension Plan’s net periodic pension benefit cost. 
 
In the first nine months of 2024, the Company recognized a charge of $11 million to reflect the cost of pension special termination benefit 
enhancements related to a voluntary separation plan.
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The following table provides the components of total postretirement benefit cost:
 
 

               

       Postretirement  

   
For the three months ended 

September 30,  
For the nine months ended 

September 30,  
 ($ in millions)  2024  2023  2024  2023  
               

 Components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost              
 Service cost  $  2 $  2 $  5 $  6 
 Interest cost on projected benefit obligation    7   8   22   23 
 Amortization of prior service credit gain recognized    (6)   (6)   (19)   (16) 
 OPEB remeasurement (gain) loss    21   (46)   (6)   (38) 
 Total periodic postretirement (benefit) cost  $  24 $  (42) $  2 $  (25) 
               

 
As a result of special termination benefit enhancements related to a voluntary separation plan, Frontier remeasured its postretirement benefit 
plan, resulting in a remeasurement loss of $21 million and a remeasurement gain of $6 million for the three and nine months ended 
September 30, 2024, respectively.
 
In the first nine months of 2023, Frontier amended the medical coverage for certain postretirement benefit plans, which resulted in a $38 
million net remeasurement gain. The net gain was comprised of a loss of $20 million in the first quarter, offset by remeasurement gains of 
$12 million in the second quarter and $46 million in the third quarter, primarily due to discount rate changes.
 
We capitalized $13 million and $14 million of pension and OPEB expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively, into the cost of our capital expenditures, as the costs relate to our engineering and plant construction activities.
 

(17)    Commitments and Contingencies: 
 

We are party to various legal proceedings (including individual actions, class and putative class actions, and governmental investigations) 
arising in the normal course of our business covering a wide range of matters and types of claims including, but not limited to, general 
contract disputes, billing disputes, rights of access, taxes and surcharges, consumer protection, advertising, sales and the provision of 
services, intellectual property, including, trademark, copyright, and patent infringement, employment, regulatory, environmental, tort, claims 
of competitors and disputes with other carriers. Litigation is subject to uncertainty and the outcome of individual matters is not predictable. 
However, we believe that the ultimate resolution of all such matters, after considering insurance coverage or other indemnities to which we 
are entitled, will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
 
Frontier has been named as a defendant in various intellectual property disputes. In each case, we have denied the allegations and are 
mounting a vigorous defense. We have accrued an amount for potential damages that we deem probable and reasonably estimable. We do 
not expect that any potential damages, if ultimately incurred, will be material.
 
On October 22 and October 23, 2024, two complaints were filed in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York by 
purported Company stockholders against the Company, the Board, Verizon and Merger Sub in connection with the Merger. The complaints 
assert claims of negligent misrepresentation and concealment and negligence under New York common law. Among other remedies, the 
complaints seek an order enjoining the defendants from proceeding with the Merger unless and until the defendants disclose certain 
allegedly material information that was allegedly omitted from the proxy statements, rescinding the Merger to the extent already 
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consummated or granting rescissory damages, awarding the plaintiffs costs and disbursements of the action, including reasonable attorneys’ 
and expert fees and expenses, and granting such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. Additional lawsuits arising 
out of the proposed Merger may also be filed in the future. Furthermore, the Company has received demand letters from purported Company 
stockholders alleging disclosure deficiencies in the preliminary proxy statement and/or definitive proxy statement and demanding that the 
Company and the Board of Directors promptly issue corrective disclosures to cure the proxy statement prior to the anticipated stockholder 
vote on the proposed Merger. The Company believes that the allegations contained in the complaints and demands have no merit. We do 
not at this time consider there to be any reasonably possible material loss arising from the demands. There can be no assurance regarding 
the likelihood that the Company’s defense of any actions will be successful.
 
During the second quarter of 2024, Frontier reached a settlement with a net financial impact of $25 million resolving a dispute with the Chief 
Executive Officer of Frontier’s predecessor company, who left his position with the company in 2004, concerning split-dollar life insurance 
benefits granted during his employment. 
 
In November 2021, Congress passed the IIJA which provides $65 billion to fund broadband connectivity programs, including broadband 
deployment to unserved and underserved locations. The National Telecommunications and Information Administration (NTIA) is 
administering the principal last mile infrastructure funding program in the amount of $42.5 billion, the Broadband Equity, Access & 
Deployment Program (BEAD), and will distribute funding through direct grants to states, who will then award the funds based on competitive 
grant programs. The NTIA has allocated approximately $25.5 billion to states in Frontier’s footprint. We are closely tracking implementation 
of the BEAD program, including participating in state address challenge and pre-application processes. We are actively pursuing awards of 
these stimulus funds; however, we continue to evaluate our opportunities as the process is complex and any awards that we ultimately 
receive under the IIJA may require significant up-front capital expenditures or other costs. 
 
On April 14, 2024, we detected that a third party had gained unauthorized access to portions of our information technology environment. 
Upon detection, the Company immediately activated its incident response plan, took action to contain the incident, launched an investigation 
with the assistance of leading cybersecurity experts, and notified law enforcement and applicable regulatory authorities. We worked with a 
leading e-discovery firm to undertake a thorough review of the impacted data to identify and provide notice to individuals whose information 
was impacted. Since the incident, the Company has also taken steps to further strengthen its information technology security.
 
In October 2013, the California Attorney General’s Office notified certain Verizon companies, including one of the subsidiaries that we 
acquired in the CTF transaction, of potential violations of California state hazardous waste statutes primarily arising from the disposal of 
electronic components, batteries, and aerosol cans at certain California facilities. We are cooperating with this investigation. We have 
accrued an amount for potential penalties that we deem to be probable and reasonably estimable, and we do not expect that any potential 
penalties, if ultimately incurred, will be material.

 
We accrue an expense for pending litigation when we determine that an unfavorable outcome is probable, and the amount of the loss can be 
reasonably estimated. Legal defense costs are expensed as incurred. None of our existing accruals for pending matters, after considering 
insurance coverage, is material. We monitor our pending litigation for the purpose of adjusting our accruals and revising our disclosures 
accordingly, when required. Litigation is, however, subject to uncertainty, and the outcome of any particular matter is not predictable. We will 
vigorously defend our interests in pending litigation, and as of this date, we believe that the ultimate resolution of all such matters, after 
considering insurance coverage or other indemnities to which we are entitled, will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated 
financial position, results of operations, or our cash flows.

 
In 2015, Frontier accepted the FCC’s CAF Phase II offer, which provided $313 million in annual support through 2021 in our current 25 
states in return for the Company’s commitment to make broadband available to households within the CAF II eligible areas. The Company 
was required to complete the CAF II deployment by December 31, 
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2021. Thereafter, USAC and the FCC has been reviewing carriers’ CAF II program completion data, and if USAC or the FCC determines that 
the Company did not satisfy applicable  FCC CAF Phase II requirements, Frontier could be required to return a portion of the funds 
previously received and may be subject to certain fines, requirements and obligations.

 
On January 30, 2020, the FCC adopted an order establishing the RDOF competitive reverse auction to provide support to serve high-cost 
areas. Under the FCCs RDOF Phase I auction, we were awarded approximately $371 million over ten years to build gigabit-capable 
broadband over a fiber-to-the-premises network to approximately 127,000 locations in eight states (California, Connecticut, Florida, Illinois, 
New York, Pennsylvania, Texas, and West Virginia). We began receiving RDOF funding in the second quarter of 2022 and we will be 
required to complete the buildout to the awarded locations by December 31, 2028, with interim target milestones over this period. To the 
extent Frontier is unable to meet the milestones or construct to all locations by the required deadlines, Frontier could be required to return a 
portion of funds previously received and may be subject to certain fines, requirements and obligations. Fines and penalties could also be 
assessed to the extent Frontier were ever to decide to surrender RDOF locations previously awarded. 

 
The FCC previously classified consumer broadband internet services as information services, subject to light-touch regulation.  On April 25, 
2024, the FCC approved an order that would reclassify certain retail broadband internet access services as lightly regulated 
telecommunications services, thereby imposing certain network neutrality requirements on the reclassified internet services. Although the 
FCC order has been appealed to the courts, the majority of these rules were scheduled to take effect on July 22, 2022. On August 1, 2024, 
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit stayed the implementation of the rules. Unless overturned by the court, these rules could 
increase our regulatory and compliance obligations and associated costs.
 
On July 24, 2024, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit held that certain delegations of authority in the USF contribution system are 
unconstitutional. The court remanded the case to the FCC.  The Fifth Circuit subsequently stayed the decision to allow the FCC to file a 
petition with the U.S. Supreme Court seeking review.  The stay allows the continued collection of USF contributions while the Supreme Court 
considers the case. The precise impact of the case is unclear at this time, including the extent to which the decision applies to parties other 
than the petitioner.  We cannot predict how this or future court decisions will impact the company’s ability to receive federal universal service 
funds in the future.
 
We conduct certain of our operations in leased premises and lease certain equipment and other assets pursuant to operating leases. The 
lease arrangements have terms ranging from 1 to 99 years and several contain rent escalation clauses providing for increases in monthly 
rent at specific intervals. When rent escalation clauses exist, we record annual rental expense based on the total expected rent payments on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Certain leases also have renewal options. Renewal options that are reasonably assured are 
included in determining the lease term.
 
As of September 30, 2024, we had total “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities” of $1,064 million, of which $793 million is related to 
accounts payable. As of December 31, 2023, we had total “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities” of $1.1 billion, of which $857 million is 
related to accounts payable.

 
Although from time to time we make short-term purchasing commitments to vendors with respect to capital expenditures, we generally do 
not enter into firm, written contracts for such activities. In connection with the fiber expansion build, we have prioritized diversifying our 
vendor base and solidifying partnership agreements with vendors for relevant labor and materials, to enable our build growth and customer 
expansion. Some of these key supplier agreements have multi-year terms and purchase commitments as we deem advisable in order to 
strengthen future supply.  In addition, we have negotiated favorable payment terms with some of our vendors that allow for a longer payment 
period than our normal customary terms (referred to as vendor financing), which are excluded from capital expenditures and reported as 
financing activities on the statement of cash flows. As of September 30, 2024, we had $56 million of vendor financing liabilities included in 
“Other 
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current liabilities” on our consolidated balance sheets. For the nine months ended September 30, 2024 we made $415 million in vendor 
financing payments related to capital expenditures.
 
We are party to contracts with several unrelated long-distance carriers. The contracts provide fees based on traffic they carry for us subject 
to minimum monthly fees.
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Forward-Looking Statements  
 
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains "forward-looking statements," related to future events. Forward-looking statements address our 
expectations or beliefs concerning future events, including, without limitation, our future operating and financial performance, our ability to 
implement our growth strategy, our ability to comply with the covenants in the agreements governing our indebtedness, our capital expenditures, 
and other matters. These statements are made based on management’s views and assumptions, as of the time the statements are made, 
regarding future events and performance and contain words such as “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “seek,” “see,” “may,” “will,” 
“would,” or “target.” Forward-looking statements by their nature address matters that are, to different degrees, uncertain. We do not intend, nor do 
we undertake any duty, to update any forward-looking statements, except as required by law. 
 
A wide range of factors could materially affect future developments and performance, including but not limited to:
 

 the risk that the Merger may not be completed in a timely manner or at all;
 
· the failure to receive, on a timely basis or otherwise, the Company Stockholder Approval;
 
· the possibility that any or all of the various conditions to the consummation of the Merger may not be satisfied or waived, including the 

failure to receive any required regulatory approvals from any applicable governmental entities (or any conditions, limitations or restrictions 
placed on such approvals);

 
· the possibility that competing offers or acquisition proposals for the Company will be made;
 
· the occurrence of any event, change or other circumstance that could give rise to the termination of the Merger Agreement relating to the 

Merger, including in circumstances which would require the Company to pay a termination fee;
 
· the effect of the pendency of the Merger on the Company’s ability to attract, motivate or retain key executives and employees, its ability to 

maintain relationships with its customers, suppliers and other business counterparties, or its operating results and business generally;
 
· risks related to the Merger diverting management’s attention from the Company’s ongoing business operations;
 
· the risk that the Company’s stock price may decline significantly if the Merger is not consummated;
 
 our significant indebtedness, our ability to incur substantially more debt in the future, and covenants in the agreements governing our 

current indebtedness that may reduce our operating and financial flexibility; 
 

 declines in Adjusted EBITDA and revenue relative to historical levels that we are unable to offset;
 

 economic uncertainty, volatility in financial markets, and rising interest rates could limit our ability to access capital or increase the cost of 
capital needed to fund business operations, including our fiber expansion plans;

 
 our ability to successfully implement strategic initiatives, including our fiber buildout and other initiatives to enhance revenue and realize 

productivity improvements;
 
 our ability to secure necessary construction resources, materials and permits for our fiber buildout initiative in a timely and cost-effective 

manner;
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 inflationary pressures on costs, including tight labor markets, increased fuel and electricity costs, and potential disruptions in our supply 

chain, which could adversely impact our financial condition or results of operations and hinder our fiber expansion plans;
 
 our ability to effectively manage our operations, operating expenses, capital expenditures, debt service requirements and cash paid for 

income taxes and liquidity;
 

 the impact of potential information technology or data security breaches or other cyber-attacks or other disruptions, including the recently 
disclosed unauthorized access by a third party to portions of our information technology environment;

 
 the impact of laws and regulations relating to the handling of privacy and data protection;

 
 competition from cable, wireless carriers, satellite providers, wireline carriers, fiber “overbuilders” and Over-the-Top video providers, and 

the risk that we will not respond on a timely or profitable basis;
 

 our ability to successfully adjust to changes in the communications industry, including the effects of technological changes and competition 
on our capital expenditures, products and service offerings;
 

 our ability to retain or attract new customers and to maintain relationships with existing customers, including wholesale customers;
 

 our reliance on a limited number of key suppliers and vendors; 
 

 declines in revenue from our voice services, switched and nonswitched access and video and data services that we cannot stabilize or 
offset with increases in revenue from other products and services;
 

 our ability to secure, continue to use or renew intellectual property and other licenses used in our business;
 

 our ability to hire or retain key personnel;
 

 our ability to dispose of certain assets or asset groups or to make acquisition of certain assets on terms that are attractive to us, or at all;
 

 the effects of changes in the availability of federal and state universal service funding or other subsidies to us and our competitors and our 
ability to obtain future subsidies;
 

 our ability to comply with the applicable CAF II and RDOF requirements and the risk of penalties or obligations to return certain CAF II and 
RDOF funds;
 

 our ability to defend against litigation or government investigations and potentially unfavorable results from current pending and future 
litigation or investigations;
 

 our ability to comply with applicable federal and state consumer protection requirements;
 

 the effects of governmental legislation and regulation on our business, including costs, disruptions, possible limitations on operating 
flexibility and changes to the competitive landscape resulting from such legislation or regulation;
 

 the impact of regulatory, investigative and legal proceedings and legal compliance risks;
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 our ability to effectively manage service quality in the states in which we operate and meet mandated service quality metrics or regulatory 

requirements;
 

 the effects of changes in income tax rates, tax laws, regulations or rulings, or federal or state tax assessments, including the risk that such 
changes may benefit our competitors more than us, as well as potential future decreases in the value of our deferred tax assets;
 

 the effects of changes in accounting policies or practices;
 

 our ability to successfully renegotiate union contracts;
 

 the effects of increased medical expenses and pension and postemployment expenses;
 

 changes in pension plan assumptions, interest rates, discount rates, regulatory rules and/or the value of our pension plan assets; 
 

 the impact of adverse changes in economic, political and market conditions in the areas that we serve, the U.S. and globally, including but 
not limited to, disruption in our supply chain, inflation in pricing for key materials or labor, or other adverse changes resulting from 
epidemics, pandemics, and outbreaks of contagious diseases, natural disasters, economic or political instability, terrorist attacks and wars, 
including the ongoing war in Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas war, or other adverse widespread developments;

 
 potential adverse impacts of climate change and increasingly stringent environmental laws, rules and regulations, and customer 

expectations and other environmental liabilities;  
 

 market overhang due to substantial common stock holdings by our former creditors; 
 
 certain provisions of Delaware law and our certificate of incorporation that may prevent efforts by our stockholders to change the direction 

or management of our company; and
 

 certain other factors set forth in our other filings with the SEC.
 
This list of factors that may affect future performance and the accuracy of forward-looking statements is illustrative and is not intended to be 
exhaustive. Any of the foregoing events, or other events, could cause our results to vary from management’s forward-looking statements included 
in this report. You should consider these important factors, as well as the risks contained in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K, our 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2024, June 30, 2024, and other filings with the SEC, in evaluating any 
statement in this report or otherwise made by us or on our behalf.  
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 
Frontier Communications Parent, Inc. is a leading communications and technology provider offering gigabit speeds to approximately 3.1 million 
broadband subscribers, with approximately 13,000 employees, operating in 25 states as of  September 30, 2024. We are building critical 
infrastructure across the country with our fiber-optic network and cloud-based solutions, enabling secure high-speed connections. Driven by our 
purpose of Building Gigabit AmericaTM, we are focused on supporting a digital society, closing the digital divide, and working toward a more 
sustainable environment.
 
Business Overview 
In 2020, we began the expansion and transformation of our fiber network to meet the rapidly increasing demand for data from our consumer and 
business customers. We believe that a fiber network has competitive advantages to meet this growing demand, including faster download speeds, 
faster upload speeds, and lower latency levels than alternative broadband services.
 
In August 2021, we announced our plan to pass 10 million total locations with fiber. As of September 30, 2024, we have passed over 7 million total 
locations with fiber. We prioritize our activities to locations that we believe will provide the highest investment returns. As we implement our fiber 
expansion plan, we expect our business mix will shift significantly, with a larger percentage of revenue coming from fiber. 
 
Our strategy focuses on four strategic priorities: fiber deployment, fiber penetration, improving the customer experience, and operational efficiency. 
We accomplished the following objectives in the third quarter of 2024: 
 

 We added approximately 381,000 fiber passings. As of September 30, 2024, we had approximately 7.6 million total locations passed with 
fiber. 
 

 We added 108,000 fiber broadband customer net additions, resulting in fiber broadband customer growth of 19% as compared to the prior 
year period. In our Base Fiber Network of 3.2 million locations, we reached broadband penetration of 45.7%.  
 

 Fiber broadband customer net additions continued to outpace copper broadband customer net losses, resulting in 47,000 total broadband 
customer net additions.
 

 Fiber revenue growth of 14% offset copper revenue declines of 9%, resulting in overall positive revenue growth year-over-year.
 

 Issued $750 million fiber securitization notes and refinanced term loan, on July 1, 2024 to further fund fiber build at a lower cost of capital, 
while proactively extending maturities.  
 

On September 4, 2024 we entered into the Merger Agreement with Verizon, pursuant to which, subject to certain terms and conditions therein, 
Verizon will acquire Frontier for $38.50 per share in cash, representing a premium of 43.7% to Frontier’s 90-Day volume-weighted average share 
price (VWAP) on September 3, 2024, the last full trading day prior to published market speculation regarding a potential sale of Frontier. See Note 
2 - ‘‘Merger Agreement’’ to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I of this Quarterly Report for more detail.

 
Our fiber build plans include significant expenditures which could be adversely impacted by supply chain delays, actual or perceived inflation, tight 
labor markets, increased fuel and electricity costs, increased cost of borrowing, and other risks. In addition to higher costs, the availability of 
building materials and other supply chain risks could negatively impact our ability to achieve the fiber build plans we are executing against. We 
continue to closely monitor and evaluate the impact these and other factors may have on our business, including demand for our products and 
services, our ability to execute on our strategic priorities and our financial condition and results of operations.
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Financial Overview – Operating Income
We reported operating income of $86 million and $114 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, a decrease 
of $28 million. 
 
We reported operating income of $267 million and $372 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, a decrease 
of $105 million. 
 
Operating income decreased primarily due to decreases in revenue from voice and video services, and increases in depreciation and amortization 
expenses, restructuring costs and other charges, and selling, general and administrative expenses. These factors were partially offset by an 
increase in revenue from data and internet services, as well as decreases in cost of service expenses, as compared to the corresponding period in 
2023. 
 
Presentation of Results of Operations 
The sections below include tables that present customer counts, average monthly consumer revenue per customer (“ARPC”), average monthly 
revenue per unit (“ARPU”), and consumer customer churn. We define churn as the number of consumer customer deactivations during the month 
divided by the number of consumer customers at the beginning of the month and utilize the average of each monthly churn in the period. 
Management believes that consumer customer counts, ARPC, ARPU, and consumer customer churn are important factors in evaluating our 
consumer customer trends. Among the key services we provide to consumer customers are voice service, data service and video service. We 
continue to explore the potential to provide additional services to our customer base, with the objective of meeting our customers’ communications 
needs.
 
The following section should be read in conjunction with the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing 
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023. The following charts present key customer 
metrics, disaggregation of revenue, and the results of operations of the consolidated company.
 
(a) Results of Operations
 
Unless otherwise indicated, the discussion of the customer metrics and components of operating income for the table that follows relates only to 
the financial results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, as compared to the financial results for the three and nine months 
ended September 30, 2023. 
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Customer Trends
 

 
 
            

   As of or for the three months ended September 30,
 (Customer and Employee Metrics in thousands)  2024   2023  % Change
            
 Broadband Customer Metrics           
 Fiber Broadband           
 Consumer customers    2,157     1,797   20%
 Business and wholesale customers (1)    138     126   10%
 Consumer net customer additions    104     75   39%
 Consumer customer churn   1.49%    1.47%   1%
 Consumer customer ARPU  $  65.40   $  64.49   1%
 Copper Broadband           
 Consumer customers    666     870   (23)%
 Business and wholesale customers (1)    96     120   (20)%
 Consumer net customer losses    (55)     (58)   5%
 Consumer customer churn   2.37%    2.18%   9%
 Consumer customer ARPU  $  59.16   $  54.62   8%
            
 Consumer Customer Metrics           
 Customers    3,176     3,118   2%
 Net customer additions (losses)    22     (9)   344%
 ARPC  $  83.12   $  83.99   (1)%
 Customer Churn   1.80%    1.70%   6%
            
 Other Metrics           
 Employees    12,950     13,756   (6)%
            
 
 
            

   For the nine months ended September 30,
 (Customer and Employee Metrics in thousands)  2024   2023  % Change
            
 Broadband Customer Metrics           
 Fiber Broadband           
 Consumer net customer additions    279      222    26 %
 Consumer customer churn   1.38%    1.36%   1 %
 Consumer customer ARPU  $  65.41    $  63.10    4 %
 Copper Broadband           
 Consumer net customer losses    (156)     (173)   10 %
 Consumer customer churn   2.11%    1.91%   10 %
 Consumer customer ARPU  $  57.86    $  51.81    12 %
            
 Consumer Customer Metrics           
 Net customer additions (losses)    47      (15)   413 %
 ARPC  $  83.51    $  82.49    1 %
 Customer Churn   1.64%    1.55%   6 %
            
(1)

Business and Wholesale customers include our small, medium business, larger enterprise (SME) customers and wholesale subscribers.
 
 

We provide service and product options in our consumer and business offerings in each of our markets. 
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Fiber Broadband Customers 
Our investment strategy is focused on expanding our fiber network. In conjunction with this strategy, we are also working to improve our product 
positioning in both existing and new fiber markets. 
 
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, we added approximately 104,000 and 279,000 consumer fiber broadband customers, 
compared to 75,000 and 222,000 net additions for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively. Customers who migrated 
from our copper base constituted a minor portion of these consumer fiber broadband customer net additions in the three and nine months ended 
September 30, 2024.
 
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, we added approximately 4,000 and 9,000 business and wholesale fiber broadband 
customers compared to approximately 4,000 and 12,000 net additions for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively. 
 
Our focus on expanding and improving our fiber network has contributed to improved customer retention. Our average monthly consumer fiber 
broadband churn was 1.49% and 1.38% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, compared to 1.47% and 1.36% for the three 
and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively. These consistent results were driven by our increased focus on key customer 
touchpoints such as installation and first bill as well as retention activities associated with inflation-related pricing actions and promotional pricing 
expiration. 

o The average monthly consumer fiber broadband revenue per customer (“consumer ARPU”) increased $0.91, or 1% to $65.40 and 
$2.31, or 4% to $65.41 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively, compared to the prior year period. 
 

o The increase in consumer ARPU for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 was due to customer shifts to higher 
broadband speeds, customers rolling off promotional pricing, inflation-related price increases, all partially offset by increased 
retention activity and autopay take rates. 
 

Copper Broadband Customers
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, we lost approximately 55,000 and 156,000 consumer copper broadband customers 
compared to a loss of approximately 58,000 and 173,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively. 
 
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, Frontier lost approximately 6,000 and 18,000 business and wholesale copper 
broadband customers, compared to a loss of approximately 6,000 and 16,000 in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, 
respectively.  
 
Our average monthly consumer copper broadband churn was 2.37% and 2.11% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, 
compared to 2.18% and 1.91% in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively. The increase in consumer copper 
broadband churn was driven primarily by the impact of inflationary price increases. 
 
Consumer Customers
Consumer customers increased 2% as of September 30, 2024, as compared to the prior year period.
 
Consumer customer gains were driven by net additions of fiber broadband customers, partially offset by reductions in our copper broadband and 
stand-alone voice customers. Customer preferences as well as our fiber investment initiatives resulted in an increase in the number of our 
consumer broadband customers and a migration of our customer base to fiber.
 

 We gained approximately 22,000 and 47,000 consumer customers for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, compared to 
a loss of approximately 9,000 and 15,000 consumer customers for the three 
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and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, driven by, growth in fiber broadband customers, offset by losses in copper 
broadband, voice and video customers.
 

 For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, we experienced a net gain of consumer broadband customers of 
approximately 49,000 and 123,000 as compared to a net gain of approximately 17,000 and 49,000 for the three and nine months ended 
September 30, 2023, respectively. 
 

o The average monthly consumer revenue per customer (“consumer ARPC”) decreased $0.87, or 1%, to $83.12 and increased 
$1.02, or 1%, to $83.51 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively, compared to the prior year period. 
The decrease in the three-month period was driven by declines in voice and video services, partially offset by growth in fiber data 
and value-added services along with price increases. The increase for the nine-month period was driven primarily by growth in 
fiber data and value-added services along with price increases, partially offset by declines in voice and video services. We have 
de-emphasized the sale of low margin video products, which has historically been a material part of the overall ARPC. 
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Financial Results
 
 
                    

  
For the three months ended 

September 30,  %   
For the nine months ended 

September 30,  %   
 ($ in millions) 2024  2023  Change  2024  2023  Change  
 Data and Internet services $  1,004 $  895  12% $  2,934 $  2,637  11% 
 Voice services   301   341  (12)%   934   1,044  (11)% 
 Video services   83   104  (20)%   265   333  (20)% 
 Other   83   81  2%   250   253  (1)% 

 
Revenue from contracts with customers

  1,471   1,421  4%   4,383   4,267  3% 
 Subsidy and other revenue   18   15  20%   48   58  (17)% 
 Revenue   1,489   1,436  4%   4,431   4,325  2% 
                    
 Operating expenses:                   
 Cost of service   538   545  (1)%   1,576   1,615  (2)% 
 Selling, general, and administrative expenses   427   405  5%   1,304   1,250  4% 
 Depreciation and amortization   410   356  15%   1,196   1,040  15% 
 Restructuring costs and other charges   28   16  75%   88   48  83% 
 Total operating expenses $  1,403 $  1,322  6% $  4,164 $  3,953  5% 
                    
 Operating income   86   114  (25)%   267   372  (28)% 
                    
 Consumer   789   787  0%   2,365   2,323  2% 
 Business and Wholesale   682   634  8%   2,018   1,944  4% 

 
Revenue from contracts with customers

$  1,471 $  1,421  4% $  4,383 $  4,267  3% 
                    
 Fiber revenue   867   760  14%   2,512   2,235  12% 
 Copper revenue   604   661  (9)%   1,871   2,032  (8)% 

 
Revenue from contracts with customers

$  1,471 $  1,421  4% $  4,383 $  4,267  3% 
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REVENUE
 

The table below presents our revenue by technology for the periods indicated:
 
 

               

   For the three months ended        
   September 30,  $ Increase  % Increase  
 ($ in millions)  2024  2023  (Decrease)  (Decrease)  
 Fiber  $  867  $  760  $  107   14 %  
 Copper    604    661    (57)  (9)%  
 Revenue from contracts with customers (1)    1,471    1,421    50   4 %  
 Subsidy revenue    18    15    3   20 %  
 Total revenue  $  1,489  $  1,436  $  53   4 %  
               

 
 

               

   For the nine months ended        
   September 30,  $ Increase  % Increase  
 ($ in millions)  2024  2023  (Decrease)  (Decrease)  
 Fiber  $  2,512  $  2,235  $  277   12 %  
 Copper    1,871    2,032    (161)  (8)%  
 Revenue from contracts with customers (1)    4,383    4,267    116   3 %  
 Subsidy revenue    48    58    (10)  (17)%  
 Total revenue  $  4,431  $  4,325  $  106   2 %  
               

 
 

 

(1) Includes lease revenue of $13 million and $40 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, and $14 million and $44 million for the 
three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively.

 
Our revenue streams are primarily a result of recurring data, voice, and video services delivered over our network. Revenues are considered fiber 
or copper based on the “last-mile” technology used to connect the customer location. With our investment strategy to expand and improve our fiber 
network and the corresponding fiber focus of our sales and marketing efforts, we are experiencing growth in fiber revenue and a decline in copper 
revenue. We expect this trend to continue and accelerate due to strong fiber demand and the migration of customers from copper to fiber as we 
expand our fiber network.
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The table below presents our revenue for our consumer and business and wholesale customers for the periods indicated:

 
 
 

               

           

   
For the three months ended 

September 30,  $ Increase  % Increase  
 ($ in millions)  2024  2023  (Decrease)  (Decrease)  
 Consumer  $  789  $  787  $  2   0 %  
 Business and Wholesale    682    634    48   8 %  
 Revenue from contracts with customers (1)    1,471    1,421    50   4 %  
 Subsidy and other revenue    18    15    3   20 %  
 Total revenue  $  1,489  $  1,436  $  53   4 %  
               

   
For the nine months ended 

September 30,  $ Increase  % Increase  
 ($ in millions)  2024  2023  (Decrease)  (Decrease)  
 Consumer  $  2,365  $  2,323  $  42   2 %  
 Business and wholesale    2,018    1,944    74   4 %  
 Revenue from contracts with customers (1)    4,383    4,267    116   3 %  
 Subsidy and other revenue    48    58    (10)  (17)%  
 Total revenue  $  4,431  $  4,325  $  106   2 %  
               

(1) Includes lease revenue of $13 million and $40 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, and $14 million and $44 million for the 
three and  nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively.

 
We conduct business with a range of consumer, business and wholesale customers and we generate both recurring and non-recurring revenues. 
Recurring revenues are primarily billed at fixed recurring rates, with some services billed based on usage. Revenue recognition is not dependent 
upon significant judgments by management. 
 
Consumer 
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023:
 

 Consumer revenues were up less than 1% and 2% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, as compared to the three 
and nine months ended September 30, 2023. The revenue growth was the result of growth in fiber data and value-added service revenues 
along with inflationary price increases, offset by declines in voice, video, and copper broadband. 

 
o We experienced 22% and 23% improvement in consumer fiber broadband revenues for the three and nine months ended 

September 30, 2024, as compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023. 
 

o This improvement is a result of higher consumer fiber broadband ARPU as well as increased consumer fiber broadband net 
customers additions due to our expanded fiber footprint and continued focus on product positioning in both new and existing 
markets.
 

 We experienced a decline of approximately 16% and 13% in consumer copper broadband revenues for the three and nine months ended 
September 30, 2024. As our copper footprint transitions to fiber, we expect fewer copper sales opportunities and will proactively migrate 
certain existing broadband customers from copper to fiber, both of which will reduce our copper customer base and revenues.
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Business and Wholesale
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, our business and wholesale revenues were up 8% and 4%, respectively, as compared 
to the prior year period. This increase was driven by increases in data and internet services, partially offset by decreases in voice services 
revenue, predominantly in business. The increase in data and internet services was due to the continued growth of our fiber broadband customer 
base with a shift towards higher broadband speeds, and unit price increases in network access services. 
 
The table below presents our revenue by product and service type for the periods indicated:
 
 
 
 
               

   
For the three months ended 

September 30,  $ Increase  % Increase  
 ($ in millions)  2024  2023  (Decrease)  (Decrease)  
 Data and Internet services  $  1,004 $  895 $  109  12%  
 Voice services    301   341   (40)  (12)%  
 Video services    83   104   (21)  (20)%  
 Other    83   81   2  2%  
 Revenue from contracts with customers (1)    1,471   1,421   50  4%  
 Subsidy and other revenue    18   15   3  20%  
 Total revenue  $  1,489 $  1,436 $  53  4%  
               

   
For the nine months ended 

September 30,  $ Increase  % Increase  
 ($ in millions)  2024  2023  (Decrease)  (Decrease)  
 Data and Internet services  $  2,934 $  2,637 $  297  11%  
 Voice services    934   1,044   (110)  (11)%  
 Video services    265   333   (68)  (20)%  
 Other    250   253   (3)  (1)%  
 Revenue from contracts with customers (1)    4,383   4,267   116  3%  
 Subsidy and other revenue    48   58   (10)  (17)%  
 Total revenue  $  4,431 $  4,325 $  106  2%  
               
 

(1) Includes lease revenue of $13 million and $40 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, and $14 million, respectively, and $44 
million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively.

 
We categorize our products, services, and other revenues into the following five categories:
 
Data and Internet Services 
We provide data and Internet services to our consumer, business, and wholesale customers. Data and Internet services consist of fiber broadband 
services, copper broadband services, and network access revenues (data transmission services and dedicated high-capacity circuits including 
data services to wireless providers commonly called wireless backhaul). Network access services are provided primarily to our business and 
wholesale customers, while fiber and copper broadband are provided to all customer segments.
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Our fiber expansion strategy positively impacts data and Internet services. Fiber network expansion provides faster, symmetrical broadband 
speeds and provides both customer and revenue growth opportunities for fiber broadband and network access products like ethernet. We believe 
this initiative will create opportunities for us to provide more fiber-based services to our customers.
 
 
        

 ($ in millions) For the three months ended  For the nine months ended  
 Data and Internet services revenue, September 30, 2023 $  895 $  2,637  
 Change in fiber broadband revenue  77  233  
 Change in copper broadband revenue  (28)  (68)  
 Change in other data and internet services   60   132  
 Data and Internet services revenue, September 30, 2024 $  1,004 $  2,934  
        
 

Data and internet services revenue increased $109 million, or 12%, to $1,004 million and $297 million, or 11%, to $2,934 million for the three and 
nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively, as compared to the prior year period. The increase was driven by growth in fiber broadband 
and network access revenues, partly offset by declines in copper broadband revenue. 
 
Voice services
We provide voice services consisting of traditional local and long-distance service and voice over Internet protocol (VoIP) service provided over our 
fiber and copper broadband networks. Voice services also include enhanced features such as call waiting, caller identification, and voice 
messaging services.
 
Voice services revenue declined $40 million, or 12%, to $301 million and $110 million, or 11%, to $934 million for the three and nine months ended 
September 30, 2024, as compared to the prior year period. The decline was primarily due to net losses in business and consumer customers in 
addition to fewer customers bundling voice services with broadband as compared to the prior year period, all partially offset by higher voice 
services ARPU. 
 
Video services
Video services include revenues generated from traditional television (TV) services provided directly to consumer customers as well as satellite TV 
services provided through various satellite providers. Video services also include pay-per-view revenues, video on demand, equipment rentals, and 
video advertising. We have made the strategic decision to limit new subscriber sales of traditional TV services, focusing on our broadband 
products and OTT video options. We are partnering with OTT video providers and expect this to grow as OTT options are offered with our 
broadband products.
 

Video services revenue declined $21 million, or 20%, to $83 million and $68 million, or 20%, to $265 million for the three and nine months ended 
September 30, 2024, as compared to the prior year period. The decline was primarily driven by traditional video customer losses, partially offset by 
price increases as compared to the prior year period.
 
Other 
Other customer revenue includes non-recurring equipment sales, network facility rental income, ancillary customer fees, directory listing services 
and switched access revenue. Switched access revenue includes revenue derived from allowing other carriers to use our network to originate 
and/or terminate their local and long-distance voice traffic. These switched access services are primarily billed on a minutes-of-use basis applying 
tariffed rates filed with the FCC or state agencies.
 
Other customer services revenue increased $2 million, or 2%, to $83 million and decreased $3 million, or 1%, to $250 million for the three and nine 
months ended September 30, 2024, as compared to the prior year periods, driven by 
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decreases in switched network access revenue, partially offset by increases in pole rentals, related application fees and equipment sales. 
 
Subsidy and other revenue
Subsidy and other revenue increased $3 million, or 20%, to $18 million, and decreased $10 million, or 17%, to $48 million, for the three and nine 
months ended September 30, 2024, respectively, compared to the prior year period, driven by increased grants and CIAC for the current quarter, 
and decreases in subsidies, and other revenue for the current  nine month period. 
 
 

 
OPERATING EXPENSES

 
The table below presents our operating expenses for the periods indicated:

 
 
              

  For the three months ended        
  September 30,  $ Increase  % Increase  
 ($ in millions) 2024  2023  (Decrease)  (Decrease)  
 Operating expenses:             
 Cost of Service $  538  $  545  $  (7)  (1)%  
 Selling, general, and administrative expenses   427    405    22   5 %  
 Depreciation and amortization   410    356    54   15 %  
 Restructuring costs and other charges   28    16    12   75 %  
 Total operating expenses $  1,403  $  1,322   $  81    6 %  
              
 
 
 
              

  For the nine months ended        
   September 30,  $ Increase  % Increase  
 ($ in millions) 2024  2023  (Decrease)  (Decrease)  
 Operating expenses:             
 Cost of Service $  1,576  $  1,615  $  (39)  (2)%  
 Selling, general, and administrative expenses   1,304    1,250    54   4 %  
 Depreciation and amortization   1,196    1,040    156   15 %  
 Restructuring costs and other charges   88    48    40   83 %  
 Total operating expenses $  4,164  $  3,953   $  211    5 %  
              
Cost of service
Cost of service expenses include access charges and other third-party costs directly attributable to connecting customer locations to our network, 
and video content costs. Such access charges and other third-party costs exclude depreciation and amortization, and employee related expenses.
 
Cost of service decreased $7 million and $39 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, as compared to the prior year 
periods. The decrease in cost of service expense was driven by lower video content costs as a result of declines in video customers, non-renewal 
of certain content agreements, and decreased CPE costs. These decreases more than offset higher benefits costs and outside service rate 
increases resulting from higher inflation. 
 
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general, and administrative expenses (“SG&A expenses”) include the salaries, wages and related benefits and costs of corporate and 
sales personnel, travel, insurance, non-network related rent, advertising, and other administrative expenses.
 
SG&A expenses increased by $22 million and $54 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively, as compared to 
the prior year periods. These increases were primarily due to increases in marketing 
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costs, third party commissions, property taxes, and a settled dispute with the Chief Executive Officer of Frontier’s predecessor company, partially 
offset by lower compensation and benefit costs, and other fees.
 
Depreciation and Amortization
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 depreciation and amortization expenses increased $54 million and $156 million, 
respectively, the increased depreciation and amortization expense was driven by higher depreciation expense as a result of higher property, plant 
and equipment in service. 
 
Restructuring costs and other charges
Restructuring costs and other charges consist of consulting and advisory fees, workforce reductions, transformation initiatives, and other 
restructuring expenses.
 
For the three months ended September 30, 2024, restructuring costs and other charges increased $12 million, as compared to the three months 
ended September 30, 2023, primarily due to higher severance and employee costs, pension/OPEB special termination benefit enhancement costs 
related to a voluntary severance program, costs associated with the Verizon merger and other restructuring activities.
 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2024, restructuring costs and other charges increased $40 million, as compared to the nine months 
ended September 30, 2023, primarily due to higher pension/OPEB special termination benefit enhancement costs related to a voluntary severance 
program, costs associated with the Verizon merger and other restructuring activities, slightly offset by lower severance and employee costs.
 
Pension and Other post-employment benefits (“OPEB”) costs
We allocate certain pension/OPEB expense to cost of service and SG&A expenses. 
 
Total pension and OPEB service costs, excluding pension/OPEB special termination benefit enhancement were as follows:
 
               

  
 For the three months ended 

September 30,
 For the nine months ended 

September 30,
 

 ($ in millions)  2024  2023  2024  2023  
               
 Total pension/OPEB expenses  $  13  $  14  $  39  $  45 
 Less: costs capitalized into capital expenditures    (5)    (5)    (13)    (14) 
 Net pension/OPEB expense  $  8  $  9 $  26  $  31 
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OTHER NON-OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSE
 

 
 
 
               

   
For the three months ended

September 30,  $ Increase  % Increase  
 ($ in millions)  2024  2023  (Decrease)  (Decrease)  
              
 Investment and other income, net  $  29 $  67 $  (38)  (57)%  
 Interest expense  $  (203) $  (170) $  (33)  19%  
 Income tax (benefit)  $  (6) $  - $  (6)  -%  
               

   
For the nine months ended 

September 30,  $ Increase  % Increase  
 ($ in millions)  2024  2023  (Decrease)  (Decrease)  
              
 Investment and other income, net  $  117 $  101 $  16  16%  
 Interest expense  $  (601) $  (460) $  (141)  31%  
 Income tax (benefit) expense  $  (13) $  1  $  (14) NM  
               
 NM - Not meaningful              
               
 
Investment and other income, net
Investment and other income, net decreased $38 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024, and increased by $16 million for the 
nine months ended September 30, 2024, as compared to the corresponding periods ended September 30, 2023. The decrease for the three 
months ended September 30, 2024 was primarily driven by a post-retirement remeasurement loss of $21 million, partially offset by a pension 
remeasurement gain of $23 million. The increase for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 was primarily driven by a post-retirement 
remeasurement gain of $6 million, a pension remeasurement gain of $25 million, and a combined increase in pension benefit and OPEB costs 
accruals of $19 million, as compared to a remeasurement gain for our other post-retirement benefit obligation of $46 million and $38 million for the 
three and nine months ended September 30, 2023.
 
Interest expense
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, interest expense increased $33 million and $141 million,  as compared to the 
corresponding periods in 2023. The increase in interest expense was primarily driven by a higher debt balance. 
 
Income tax expense 
During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, we recorded an income tax benefit of $6 million and $13 million, on pre-tax loss of 
$88 million and $217 million. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, we recorded an income tax expense of $0 million and 
$1 million on pre-tax loss of $11 million and pre-tax income of $13 million, respectively. 
 
Our effective tax rates for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, was 7.4% and 6.2% and for the three and nine months ended 
September 30, 2023 was 0.7% and 9.7%, respectively. The effective tax rate fluctuates from year to year and from quarter to quarter largely based 
on the magnitude of the company’s recognized income or loss for the applicable period.
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(b)  Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
As of September 30, 2024, we had liquidity of approximately $1,980 million, comprised of $1,320 million of cash and cash equivalents, and 
available capacity on our undrawn revolving credit facility of $660 million.
 
On July 1, 2024, Frontier Holdings amended its Secured Fiber Network Revenue Variable Funding Notes, Series 2023-2, Class A-1 facility (the 
“VFN Amendment”) to reduce the available Variable Funding Notes commitment amount to $0, with the ability to increase the commitment amount 
up to $500 million in the future upon the satisfaction of certain conditions, and to extend the maturity date to June 2028.
 
Analysis of Cash Flows
As of September 30, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents aggregating $1,320 million. For the nine months ended September 30, 2024, we 
used cash flow from operations, cash on hand, and cash from borrowings principally to fund our cash investing and financing activities, which were 
primarily capital expenditures. 
 
As of September 30, 2024, we had a working capital deficit of $567 million compared to a $506 million surplus at December 31, 2023. The primary 
drivers for the change to the working capital deficit at September 30, 2024 were a decrease in short-term investments of $1,075 million, and an 
increase of $141 million in other current liabilities, partially offset by an increase of $195 million in cash and cash equivalents, an increase of $58 
million in accrued interest and a decrease accounts payable of $39 million, as compared to the period ended December 31, 2023. 
 

Cash Flows provided from Operating Activities
 
Cash flows provided from operating activities increased $279 million to $1,327 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, as 
compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2023. The overall increase in operating cash flows was primarily the result of changes in 
depreciation and amortization and accounts payable and other liabilities offset by a decrease in profit.
 
We received $8 million in tax refunds during the nine months ended September 30, 2024.  We paid $1 million in net cash taxes during the nine 
months ended September 30, 2023.  
 

Cash Flows used by Investing Activities
 
Cash flows used by investing activities were $898 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, compared to cash flows used by 
investing activities of $2,451 million for the prior year period, due to a decrease of $891 million in capital expenditures and an increase from the 
activity of purchases and sales of short term investments as compared to the prior year period.  
 
Capital Expenditures
For the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, our capital expenditures were $1,991 million and $2,882 million, respectively. The 
decrease in capital expenditures is due to lower levels of build prework and materials and supplies purchases in 2024 when compared to the prior 
year period. 
 

Cash Flows used by Financing Activities
 

Cash flows used by financing activities decreased $2,323 million to $188 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 as compared to 
the corresponding period in 2023. The decrease in financing activities was primarily driven by the decrease in net proceeds from long-term debt 
borrowings, an increase in long-term debt principal payments and an increase in vendor financing payments in 2024. 
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Capital Resources 
Our primary anticipated uses of liquidity are to fund the costs of operations, working capital and capital expenditures and to fund interest payments 
on our long-term debt. Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations, cash on hand and borrowing capacity under our $925 
million Revolving Facility (as reduced by $265 million of revolver Letters of Credit). In addition, potential future sources of capital may include debt 
and equity (or equity-linked) financing and the $500 million Variable Funding Notes facility, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions laid out in 
the VFN Amendment. 
 
We have negotiated payment terms with certain of our vendors, (referred to as vendor financing), which are excluded from capital expenditures 
and reported as financing activities. As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 we had $56 million and $263 million, respectively, of 
vendor financing liabilities included in “Other current liabilities” on our consolidated balance sheet. Capital expenditures for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2024 were $1,991 million, and when including $415 million cash paid for vendor financing, capital investment was $2,406 million.
 
We have assessed our current and expected funding requirements and our current and expected sources of liquidity, and have determined, based 
on our forecasted financial results and financial condition as of September 30, 2024, that our operating cash flows and existing cash balances, will 
be adequate to finance our working capital requirements, fund capital expenditures, make required debt interest and principal payments, pay taxes 
and make other payments over the next twelve months. A number of factors, including but not limited to, loss of customers, pricing pressure from 
increased competition, lower subsidy and switched access revenues, and the impact of economic conditions may negatively affect our cash 
generated from operations.
 
On May 22, 2024, Frontier Communications Holdings, LLC, a subsidiary of Frontier (“Frontier Holdings”), entered into an amendment (the “2024 
Credit Agreement Amendment”) to its existing credit agreement that governs its senior secured credit facility with certain revolving credit lenders 
(the “Revolving Facility”) which, among other things, (i) increased the aggregate amount of certain additional obligations permitted to be 
outstanding, including first lien debt, and securitization and receivables facilities, and non-loan party debt, from $2,500 million to $5,500 million; 
provided that at least 40% of the net available cash from the first $1,915 million in securitization and receivables facilities received after May 22, 
2024 (excluding net available cash received from drawings with respect to $500 million of commitments of variable funding notes) is applied to 
prepay the Borrower’s existing term loans and other applicable indebtedness, and 100% of the net available cash from securitization and 
receivables facilities in excess thereof (up to the cap of $5,500 million) shall be applied to prepay the Borrower’s existing term loans and other 
applicable indebtedness; (ii) limited future securitizations and receivables facilities to assets located in Texas and/or Florida; and (iii) amended the 
financial maintenance covenant for the benefit of the Revolving Facility by, commencing with the period ending June  30, 2024, (a) including 
outstanding securitization and receivables facilities in the calculation of indebtedness and (b)  increasing the maximum financial maintenance 
covenant leverage ratio thereunder to 5.25:1.00, with a step-down to 4.75:1.00 commencing with the period ending March  31, 2027, and 
continuing thereafter. The 2024 Credit Agreement Amendment became effective on July 1, 2024, when $402 million of net available cash from the 
securitization closing on such date was applied to prepay existing term loans. 
 
On July  1, 2024, Frontier Holdings entered into an amendment to the existing Term Loan Facility which, among other things (i) extended the 
maturity date of $1.025 billion of the Term Loan to July 1, 2031; (ii) lowered (x) the margin over adjusted Term SOFR with respect to the Term Loan 
from 3.75% to 3.50% and (y) the margin over the alternative base rate with respect to the Term Loan from 2.75% to 2.50%; and (iii) eliminated the 
credit spread adjustment previously applicable to the Term Loan. 
 
On July 1, 2024, Frontier Issuer LLC (“Frontier Issuer”), the Company’s limited-purpose, bankruptcy remote, subsidiary completed the issuance of 
$750 million aggregate principal amount of secured fiber network revenue term notes consisting of $530 million 6.19% Series 2024-1, Class A-2 
term notes, $73 million 7.02% Series 2024-1, Class B term notes and $147 million 11.16% Series 2024-1, Class C term notes, each with an 
anticipated repayment term of seven years (collectively, the “Notes”). Collectively, the Notes have a weighted average yield of approximately 7.4%. 
The Notes are secured by certain of Frontier’s fiber assets and associated customer contracts in the North 
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Texas Area, in addition to those in the Dallas Metropolitan Area contributed in the Series 2023-1 Notes offering, and qualify as green bonds.
 
On July 30, 2024, Frontier Holdings entered into a further amendment to its existing credit agreement that governs its Revolving Facility, pursuant 
to which $50 million of revolving credit commitments of a terminating lender were replaced by $75 million of commitments from a new lender, 
increasing overall capacity from $900 million to $925 million. The maturity date of the Revolving Facility will be the earliest of (a) April 30, 2028, (b) 
91 days prior to the maturity of the term loan facility, (c) unless such notes have been repaid and/or redeemed in full, the date that is 91 days prior 
to the stated maturity date of our 5.875% First Lien Notes due 2027, and (d) unless such notes have been repaid and/or redeemed in full, the date 
that is 91 days prior to the stated maturity date of our 5.000% First Lien Notes due 2028.
 
Debt Covenants and Borrowing Capacity 
Our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement includes usual and customary negative covenants for loan agreements of this type, including 
covenants limiting us and our restricted subsidiaries’ (other than certain covenants therein which are limited to subsidiary guarantors) ability to, 
among other things, incur additional indebtedness, create liens on assets, make investments, loans or advances, engage in mergers, 
consolidations, sales of assets and acquisitions, pay dividends and distributions and make payments in respect of certain material subordinated 
indebtedness, in each case subject to customary exceptions for loan agreements of this type.
 
Our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement also contains a “financial covenant” which provides that, commencing with the period ending June 
30, 2024, our financial maintenance covenant leverage ratio shall not exceed as of the last day of each fiscal quarter 5.25:1.00, with a step-down 
to 4.75:1.00 commencing with the period ending March 31, 2027, and continuing thereafter.
 
This financial covenant is only applicable for the benefit of the Revolving Lenders (as defined in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement) 
thereunder and failure to comply with the financial covenant would not cause an Event of Default with respect to any loans pursuant to our term 
loan facility unless and until the Required Revolving Lenders (as defined in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement) have declared all 
amounts outstanding under the revolving facility to be immediately due and payable and all outstanding commitments under the revolving facility to 
be immediately terminated.
 
The indentures governing our First Lien Notes and Second Lien Notes also include usual and customary negative covenants for debt securities of 
this type, including covenants limiting us and our restricted subsidiaries’ (other than certain covenants therein which are limited to subsidiary 
guarantors) ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, create liens on assets, make investments, loans or advances, engage in 
mergers, consolidations, sales of assets and acquisitions, pay dividends and distributions and make payments in respect of certain material 
subordinated indebtedness, in each case subject to customary exceptions for debt securities of this type.
 
The indentures governing the outstanding subsidiary debentures include covenants that limit such subsidiary’s ability to create liens and/or merge 
or consolidate with other companies. These covenants are subject to important exceptions and qualifications.
 
The indenture governing Frontier Issuer’s Fiber Term Notes includes covenants and restrictions customary for transactions of this type. These 
covenants and restrictions include (i) that Frontier Issuer maintains a required reserve amount, satisfied either in the form of a letter of credit or 
cash held in a liquidity reserve account, to be used to make required payments in respect of the Fiber Term Notes, provisions relating to 
prepayments, required indemnification payments in certain circumstances. The Fiber Term Notes are also subject to rapid amortization in the event 
of a failure to maintain a stated debt service coverage ratio. A rapid amortization may be cured if the debt service coverage ratio exceeds a certain 
threshold for a certain period of time, upon which cure, regular amortization, if any, will resume. The Fiber Term Notes are also subject to certain 
customary events of default, including events relating to non-payment of required interest, principal or other amounts due on or with respect to the 
Fiber Term Notes, failure to comply with 
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covenants within certain time frames, certain bankruptcy events, breaches of specified representations and warranties, failure of security interests 
to be effective and certain judgments.
 
The Fiber Term Notes are subject to covenants and restrictions customary for transactions of this type, including (i) that the Issuer maintains 
specified reserve accounts to be used to make required payments in respect of the Fiber Term Notes and pay certain reserved fixed costs of the 
fiber networks, (ii) provisions relating to optional and mandatory prepayments of the Fiber Term Notes and the related payment of specified 
amounts, including specified make-whole payments in the case of prepayments of the Fiber Term Notes under certain circumstances, (iii) certain 
indemnification payments in the event, among other things, the assets pledged as collateral for the Fiber Term Notes are in stated ways defective 
or ineffective, and (iv) covenants relating to recordkeeping, access to information and similar matters.  In addition, the terms of the indenture 
governing the Fiber Term Notes provide that a larger portion of Frontier Issuer’s available funds will be used towards the repayment of the Fiber 
Term Notes during a cash sweep period, which period would result from, among other things, the failure to maintain a certain debt service 
coverage ratio or a certain minimum penetration rate in the markets that were securitized at closing. The Fiber Term Notes are also subject to 
customary rapid amortization events provided for in the Indenture, including events tied to failure to maintain stated debt service coverage ratios, 
the acceleration of the maturity of the Fiber Term Notes following the occurrence of an event of default and the failure to repay or refinance on the 
applicable anticipated repayment date. 

 
The customary events of default to which the Fiber Term Notes are subject include events relating to non-payment of required interest, principal or 
other amounts due on or with respect to the Fiber Term Notes, failure to comply with covenants within certain time frames, certain bankruptcy 
events, breaches of specified representations and warranties, failure of security interests to be effective and certain judgments. In addition, the 
Indenture and the related management agreement contain various covenants that limit the ability of the Company’s securitized subsidiaries to 
engage in specified types of transactions, subject to certain exceptions, including, for example, to incur or guarantee additional indebtedness, sell 
certain assets, create or incur liens on certain assets to secure indebtedness or consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially 
all of their assets.
 
As of September 30, 2024, we were in compliance with all of the covenants under our existing indentures and the Amended and Restated Credit 
Agreement.
 
Net Operating Losses 
In connection with our emergence from bankruptcy, we consummated a taxable disposition of substantially all of the assets and/or subsidiary stock 
of the Company. Certain of the net operating losses (“NOLs”) were utilized in offsetting gains from the disposition, certain of the NOLs were 
extinguished as part of attribute reduction and certain subsidiary NOLs were carried over. Under Section 338(h)(10) of the Code, predecessor 
Frontier Communications Corporation and Frontier made elections to step-up tax basis of certain subsidiary assets. Such Section 338(h)(10) 
elections will generate depreciation and amortization expense going forward, which may result in NOLs. Such net operating losses would be 
carried forward indefinitely but would be subject to an 80% limitation on U.S. taxable income.
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not maintain any off-balance sheet arrangements, transactions, obligations or other relationships with unconsolidated entities that would be 
expected to have a material current or future effect upon our financial statements.
 
Future Contractual Obligations and Commitments
There have been no material changes outside the ordinary course of business to the information provided with respect to our contractual 
obligations, including indebtedness and purchase and lease obligations, as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2023.
 
Future Commitments
See “Regulatory Developments” immediately below for information regarding Frontier’s known and potential future commitments related to our 
participation in the FCC’s CAF Phase II program and RDOF Phase I auction.
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Regulatory Developments 
Connect America Fund (“CAF”)/ Rural Digital Opportunity Fund (“RDOF”): In 2015, Frontier accepted the FCC’s CAF Phase II offer, which provided 
$313 million in annual support through 2021 in return for the Company’s commitment to make broadband available to households within the CAF II 
areas in our existing 25 states. The Company was required to complete the CAF II deployment by December 31, 2021. Thereafter, USAC and the 
FCC have been reviewing carriers’ CAF II program completion data, and should USAC or the FCC determine that the Company did not satisfy 
certain applicable CAF Phase II requirements, Frontier could be required to return a portion of the funds previously received and may be subject to 
certain other fines, requirements and obligations.
 
On January 30, 2020, the FCC adopted an order establishing the RDOF competitive reverse auction to provide support to serve high-cost areas. 
The FCC announced the results of its RDOF Phase I auction on December 7, 2020. Frontier was awarded approximately $371 million over ten 
years to build gigabit-capable broadband over a fiber-to-the-premises network to approximately 127,000 locations in eight states (California, 
Connecticut, Florida, Illinois, New York, Pennsylvania, Texas, and West Virginia). We began receiving RDOF funding in the second quarter of 2022 
and we will be required to complete the buildout to the awarded locations by December 31, 2028, with interim target milestones over this period. To 
the extent that Frontier is unable to meet the milestones or construct to all locations by the required deadlines, Frontier could be required to return 
a portion of funds previously received and may be subject to certain fines, requirements and obligations. Fines and penalties could also be 
assessed to the extent Frontier were ever to decide to surrender RDOF locations previously awarded. 
 
As part of its RDOF order, the FCC indicated it would hold a follow-on auction for the unawarded funding following the Phase I auction. However, it 
remains uncertain whether any such follow-on auction will occur given the recent passage of significant federal funding for broadband 
infrastructure.
 
In November 2021, Congress passed the IIJA which provides $65 billion to fund broadband connectivity programs, including broadband 
deployment to unserved and underserved locations. The National Telecommunications and Information Administration (NTIA) is administering the 
principal last mile infrastructure funding program in the amount of $42.5 billion, the Broadband Equity, Access & Deployment Program (BEAD), and 
will distribute funding through direct grants to states, who will then award the funds based on competitive grant programs. The NTIA has allocated 
approximately $25.5 billion to states in Frontier’s footprint. We are closely tracking implementation of the BEAD program, including state 
determinations regarding subsidy award criteria. We are actively pursuing awards of these stimulus funds, however, we continue to evaluate our 
opportunities as the process is complex and any awards that we ultimately receive under the IIJA may require significant up-front capital 
expenditures or other costs. 
 
Internet:  The FCC previously classified consumer broadband internet services as information services, subject to light-touch regulation. On April 
25, 2024, the FCC approved an order that would reclassify certain retail broadband internet access services as lightly regulated 
telecommunications services, thereby imposing certain network neutrality requirements on the reclassified internet services. Although the FCC 
order has been appealed to the courts, the majority of these rules were scheduled to take effect on July 22, 2022. On August 1, 2024, the U.S. 
Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit stayed the implementation of the rules. Unless overturned by the court, these rules could increase our 
regulatory and compliance obligations and associated costs.
 
Universal Service:  On July 24, 2024, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit held that certain delegations of authority in the USF contribution 
system are unconstitutional. The court remanded the case to the FCC. The Fifth Circuit subsequently stayed the decision, to allow the FCC to file a 
petition with the U.S. Supreme Court seeking review.  The stay allows the continued collection of USF contributions while the Supreme Court 
considers the case. The precise impact of the case is unclear at this time, including the extent to which the decision applies to parties other than 
the petitioner.  We cannot predict how this or future court decisions will impact the company’s ability to receive federal universal service funds in 
the future.
 
Privacy: Our businesses are subject to federal and state laws and regulations that impose various restrictions and obligations related to privacy 
and the handling of customers’ personal information. Privacy-related legislation has been adopted in a number of states in which we operate. 
Certain state requirements give consumers increased rights 
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including the right to know what personal information is being collected about them and obtain a copy of such information, opt-out of the sale of 
personal information or sharing of personal information for purposes of certain targeted advertising, and to request the correction or deletion of this 
information. Complying with such laws, as well as other legislative and regulatory action related to privacy, could result in increased costs of 
compliance, claims against the Company or investigations related to compliance, and increased uncertainty in the use and availability of certain 
consumer data.
 
Video Programming: Federal, state, and local governments extensively regulate the video services industry. Our linear video services are subject 
to, among other things: subscriber privacy regulations; requirements that we carry a local broadcast station or obtain consent to carry a local or 
distant broadcast station; rules for franchise renewals and transfers; the manner in which program packages are marketed to subscribers; and 
program access requirements.
 
We provide video programming in some of our markets including California, Connecticut, Florida, Indiana, and Texas pursuant to franchises, 
permits and similar authorizations issued by state and local franchising authorities. Most franchises require payment of a franchise fee as a 
requirement to the granting of authority.
 
Many franchises establish facilities and service requirements, as well as specific customer service standards and monetary penalties for non-
compliance. We believe that we are meeting all material standards and requirements. Franchises are generally granted for fixed terms and must 
be periodically renewed.
 
Environmental Regulation: The local exchange carrier subsidiaries we operate are subject to federal, state, and local laws, and regulations 
governing the use, storage, disposal of, and exposure to hazardous materials, the release of pollutants into the environment and the remediation of 
contamination. As an owner and former owner of property, we are subject to environmental laws that could impose liability for the entire cost of 
cleanup at contaminated sites, including sites formerly owned by us or our predecessors, regardless of fault or the lawfulness of the activity that 
resulted in contamination. We believe that our operations are in substantial compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations.
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 
The preparation of our financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions. There are inherent uncertainties with 
respect to such estimates and assumptions; accordingly, it is possible that actual results could differ from those estimates and changes to 
estimates could occur in the near term. These critical accounting estimates have been reviewed with the Audit Committee of our Board of 
Directors.
 
There have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates from the information provided in Item 7. “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2023.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
For additional information regarding FASB Accounting Standards Updates (‘‘ASU’’s) that have been issued but not yet adopted and that may 
impact the Company, refer to Note 3 – ‘‘Recent Accounting Pronouncements’’ to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I of this 
report for additional information related to recent accounting literature. 
 
Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
 
We are exposed to market risk in the normal course of our business operations due to ongoing investing and funding activities, including those 
associated with our pension plan assets. Market risk refers to the potential change in fair value of a financial instrument as a result of fluctuations 
in interest rates and equity prices. We do not hold or issue derivative instruments, derivative commodity instruments or other financial instruments 
for trading purposes. As a result, we do not undertake any specific actions to cover our exposure to market risks, and we are not party to any 
market risk management agreements other than in the normal course of business. Our primary market risk exposures from interest rate risk and 
equity price risk are as follows:
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Interest Rate Exposure 
Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the interest-bearing portion of our pension investment portfolio and the 
related actuarial liability for pension obligations, as well as our floating rate indebtedness. As of September 30, 2024, 91% of our total debt had 
fixed interest rates. We had no interest rate swap agreements in effect at September 30, 2024. We believe that our currently outstanding obligation 
exposure to interest rate changes is minimal.
 
Our objectives in managing our interest rate risk are to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to lower our overall 
borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, only our $1.0 billion term loan facility has a floating rate at September 30, 2024. The annual impact 
of a 100 basis points increase in the SOFR would result in approximately $10 million of additional interest expense, provided that the SOFR rate 
exceeds the SOFR floor. An adverse change in interest rates would increase the amount that we pay on our variable rate obligations and could 
result in fluctuations in the fair value of our fixed rate obligations. Based upon our overall interest rate exposure, a near-term change in interest 
rates would not materially affect our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
 
At September 30, 2024, the fair value of our debt was estimated to be approximately $11.8 billion, based on quoted market prices, our overall 
weighted average borrowing rate was 6.997% and our overall weighted average maturity was approximately 4.8 years. 
 
Our discount rate assumption for our pension benefit obligation is determined at least annually, or whenever required, with assistance from our 
actuaries. The discount rate is based on the pattern of expected future benefit payments and the prevailing rates available on long-term, high 
quality corporate bonds with durations approximate to that of our benefit obligation. As of December 31, 2023, the discount rate utilized in 
calculating our benefit plan obligation was 5.20%. As of September 30, 2024, the discount rate utilized in calculating our benefit plan obligation was 
5.00%. 
 
The discount rate assumption for our OPEB obligation is determined in a similar manner to the pension plan. As of December 31, 2023, our 
discount rate utilized in calculating our benefit plan obligation was 5.20%. As of September 30, 2024, the discount rate utilized in calculating our 
benefit plan obligation was 5.00%.
 
Equity Price Exposure 
Our exposure to market risks for changes in equity security prices as of September 30, 2024 is primarily limited to our pension plan assets. We 
have no other security investments of any significant amount.
 
The value of our pension plan assets increased $198 million from $2,268 million at December 31, 2023 to $2,466 million at September 30, 2024. 
This increase primarily resulted from changes in the market value of investments of $235 million, net of plan expenses, and contributions of $108 
million, offset by benefit payments to participants of $145 million. 
 
Item 4.  Controls and Procedures 
 
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and 
principal financial officer, regarding the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended).  Based upon this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer 
concluded, as of the end of the period covered by this report, September 30, 2024, that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
 
(b) Changes in internal control over financial reporting
There have been no changes to our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) identified in an evaluation thereof that occurred during the first nine months of 2024 that materially affected, or 
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting
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Item 1.  Legal Proceedings 
 
We are party to various legal proceedings (including individual, class and putative class actions as well as federal and state governmental 
investigations) arising in the normal course of our business covering a wide range of matters and types of claims including, but not limited to, 
general contracts, billing disputes, rights of access, taxes and surcharges, consumer protection, trademark, copyright and patent infringement, 
employment, regulatory, tort, claims of competitors and disputes with other carriers. Such matters are subject to uncertainty and the outcome of 
individual matters is not predictable. However, we believe that the ultimate resolution of these matters, after considering insurance coverage or 
other indemnities to which we are entitled, will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. For 
more information regarding pending and threatened legal actions and proceedings see Note 17 - ‘‘Commitments and Contingencies’’ to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I of this report.
 
Item 1A.  Risk Factors 
 

Except as disclosed in our Quarterly Report for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2024 and except for the risks noted below, there 
have been no material changes to the Risk Factors described in Part 1, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2023.
 
Risks Related to the Proposed Merger

 
The Merger may not be completed on the terms or timeline currently contemplated or at all, which could adversely affect our 

stock price, business, financial condition and results of operations.
 
On September 4, 2024, the Company entered into the Merger Agreement, which provides that the consummation of the Merger is subject 

to certain conditions, including (i) the Company Stockholder Approval; (ii) the expiration or early termination of the applicable waiting period under 
the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended; (iii) the receipt of certain required consents or approvals from the FCC 
and certain specified state public utility commissions and local franchise authorities; (iv) the absence of legal restraints prohibiting the Merger; and 
(v) other customary conditions specified in the Merger Agreement. While it is currently anticipated that the Merger will be consummated by the first 
quarter of 2026, there can be no assurance that the foregoing conditions will be satisfied in a timely manner or at all, or that an effect, event, 
development, or change will not transpire that could delay or prevent these conditions from being satisfied.

 
If the Merger is not consummated for any reason, the trading price of our common stock may decline to the extent that the market price of 

the common stock reflects positive market assumptions that the Merger will be consummated, and the related benefits will be realized. We may 
also be subject to additional risks if the Merger is not completed, including:

 
· the requirement in the Merger Agreement that, under certain circumstances, we pay Verizon a termination fee of $320 million in cash;

 
· incurring substantial costs related to the Merger, such as financial advisory, legal, accounting, and other professional services fees that 

have already been incurred or will continue to be incurred until closing;
 
· limitations on our ability to retain and hire key personnel;
 
· reputational harm including relationships with investors, customers, and business partners due to the adverse perception of any failure to 

successfully complete the Merger; and
 
· potential disruption to our business and distraction of our workforce and management team to pursue other opportunities that could be 

beneficial to us, in each case without realizing any of the benefits of having the Merger completed.
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The pendency of the Merger could negatively impact our business, financial conditions, and results of operations.
 
The pendency of the Merger could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and may result in 

our inability to hire or the departure of key personnel. In connection with the Merger, some of our customers and business partners may 
delay or defer decisions or may end their relationships with us, which could negatively affect our revenues, earnings and cash flows, 
regardless of whether the Merger is completed. Similarly, our current and prospective employees may experience uncertainty about their 
future roles with us following the Merger, which may materially adversely affect our ability to attract and retain key personnel during the 
pendency of the Merger.

 
Until the completion of the Merger or the termination of the Merger Agreement in accordance with its terms, we are 

prohibited from entering into certain transactions and taking certain actions that might otherwise be beneficial to the Company 
and its stockholders.

 
From and after the date of the Merger Agreement and prior to completion of the Merger, the Merger Agreement restricts us from 

taking specified actions without the consent of Verizon and requires that the business of our Company and its subsidiaries be conducted 
in the ordinary course in all material respects. These restrictions may prevent us from making changes to our business or organizational 
structure or from pursuing business opportunities that may arise prior to the completion of the Merger. Adverse effects arising from these 
restrictions during the pendency of the Merger could be exacerbated by any delays in the consummation of the Merger or the termination 
of the Merger Agreement.

 
We have incurred, and will continue to incur, direct and indirect costs as a result of the Merger.
 
We have incurred, and will continue to incur, significant costs and expenses, including regulatory costs, fees for professional 

services and other transaction costs in connection with the Merger, for which we have received little or no benefit if the Merger is not 
completed. There are a number of factors beyond our control that could affect the total amount or the timing of these costs and expenses. 
Many of these fees and costs will be payable by us even if the Merger is not completed and may relate to activities that we would not 
have undertaken other than to complete the Merger.

 
Litigation challenging the Merger Agreement may prevent the Merger from being consummated within the expected 

timeframe or at all.
 
Lawsuits have been filed (see Note 17 - “Commitments and Contingencies” to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in 

Part I of this Quarterly Report for further discussion), and additional lawsuits may be filed in the future, against us, our Board or other 
parties to the Merger Agreement, challenging the adequacy of the proxy disclosures or making other claims in connection with the Merger. 
Such lawsuits have been brought by purported stockholders, and additional lawsuits may be brought by purported stockholders or other 
interested parties, seeking, among other things, to enjoin consummation of the Merger. One of the conditions to the consummation of the 
Merger is that the consummation of the Merger is not restrained, made illegal, enjoined or prohibited by any order or legal or regulatory 
restraint or prohibition of a court of competent jurisdiction or any governmental entity. As such, if the plaintiffs in such current or potential 
lawsuits are successful in obtaining an injunction prohibiting the defendants from completing the Merger on the agreed upon terms, then 
such injunction may prevent the Merger from becoming effective within the expected timeframe or at all.

 
Item 5.  Other Information 
(c) During the three months ended September 30, 2024, no director or “officer” (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Exchange Act) of the 
Company adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 
408(a) of Regulation S-K. 
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Item 6.  Exhibits 
 
      
(a) Exhibits:

 
    

 Exhibit
Number  

  
Description

 2.1*    Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 4, 2024, by and among Verizon Communications Inc., France 
Merger Sub Inc. and Frontier Communications Parent, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Frontier’s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed on September 5, 2024)

 31.1    Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
 31.2    Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
 32    Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted 

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 101    The following materials from Frontier’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2024, 

formatted in iXBRL (inline eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets; (ii) the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations; (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (loss); (iv) the 
Consolidated Statements of Equity (Deficit); (v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows; and (vi) Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

 104    Cover Page from Frontier’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2024, formatted in 
iXBRL and contained in Exhibit 101.
 
 

      
      

 

* Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The registrant agrees to furnish  supplementally to the SEC a copy of any 
omitted schedule upon request by the SEC. 
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SIGNATURE
 
 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by 
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
 

  

 FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS PARENT, INC.
  
  
  
 By:  /s/ William McGloin
 William McGloin
 Chief Accounting Officer and Controller
 (Principal Accounting Officer)
  
Date: November 5, 2024  
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 Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Nick Jeffery, certify that:

    1.  I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Frontier Communications Parent, Inc.;

    2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

    3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

    4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

                 a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure
controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

                 b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal
control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

         c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures
and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

                  d)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting; and

 



        5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

         a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

         b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees
who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

 1

Date:  November 5, 2024 /s/ Nick Jeffery
Nick Jeffery
President and Chief Executive Officer
 



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Scott Beasley, certify that:

    1.  I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Frontier Communications Parent, Inc.;

    2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the  statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were  made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

    3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

    4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

                 a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure
controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

                 b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal
control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

         c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures
and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

                  d)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal  control over
financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting; and

 



        5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on  our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the  registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

         a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

         b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees
who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  November 5, 2024 /s/ Scott Beasley
Scott Beasley
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
 



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Frontier Communications Parent, Inc. (the "Company")
on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2024 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), we,  Nick Jeffery,  President and Chief
Executive Officer and Scott Beasley,   Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.  Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

    (1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

        (2)    The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Nick Jeffery   /s/ Scott Beasley
Nick Jeffery   Scott Beasley
President and Chief Executive Officer   Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
November 5, 2024   November 5, 2024

This certification is made solely for purpose of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, subject to the knowledge
standard contained therein, and not for any other purpose.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document
authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signatures that appears in typed form
within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided
to Frontier Communications Parent, Inc. and will be retained by Frontier Communications Parent,
Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.


